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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, THURSDAY, MAY 24, 2012, 9:12 A.M. 

2 (Court was called to order) 

3 THE COURT: That takes me to the last case on my 

4 calendar this morning. Is anybody here on something other 

5 than Sands Jacobs? 

6 Okay. Good morning. 

7 All right. Somebody want to tell me what's going 

8 on? I guess you should identify yourselves for purposes of 

9 the record first. 

10 MR. PEEK: Good morning, Your Honor. Stephen Peek 

11 on behalf of Las Vegas Sands and on behalf of Sands China 

12 Limited. 

13 MR. WEISSMAN: Good morning, Your Honor. My name is 

14 Henry Weissman from the Munger Tolles & Olson firm. I 

15 represent Sands China. And I also wanted to extend my 

16 greetings and apologies for my partner Brad Brian, who 

17 unfortunately threw out his back and is unable to be here this 

18 morning. 

19 THE COURT: It's okay. You're going to do fine. 

20 MR. BICE: Good morning, Your Honor. Todd Bice on 

21 behalf of Mr. Jacobs. 

22 MS. SPINELLI: Good morning. Debra Spinelli on 

23 behalf of Mr. Jacobs. 

24 MR. PISANELLI: Good morning, Your Honor. James 

25 Pisanelli on behalf of Mr. Jacobs. 
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1 THE COURT: Good morning. All right. This was 

2 our status check for us to figure out how we were going to 

3 do our evidentiary hearing on jurisdiction that the Supreme 

4 Court has ordered that I do before we do anything else on this 

5 case. And we had initially planned to start this the week of 

6 June 25th. 

7 

8 

MR. PEEK: 25th, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And I will be back, ready to go on 

9 June 26th in the morning if you guys are ready to start then 

10 if you can give me a little bit of idea on your timing and 

11 issues like that. 

12 MR. BICE: Well, I think, Your Honor, from our 

13 perspective we are likely going to be asking you to move that 

14 date in light of where we are at and where --

15 THE COURT: And then where am I going to put the 

16 Corrigan case, and where am I going to put the Harmon Tower, 

17 whatever they're doing with that evidentiary hearing? 

18 MR. BICE: I understand, Your Honor. I am involved 

19 in the Corrigan case. 

20 THE COURT: And then there's the Planet Hollywood 

21 case that goes for eight weeks starting right at Labor Day, 

22 and then there's a couple of --about five weeks where I'm 

23 going to try and try every case I have except CityCenter, and 

24 then I'm going to start CityCenter. 

25 MR. BICE: Understood. 
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1 THE COURT: Okay. So? 

2 MR. PEEK: And, Your Honor, we obviously want to go 

3 in that week. 

4 MR. BICE: Well --

5 THE COURT: I've had that week set aside for a 

6 period of time. So let's talk about it. 

7 MR. BICE: Well, all right. Let's talk about it. I 

8 mean, where we are at right now is we have received some 

9 documents, I believe last week, from Las Vegas Sands. 

10 Yesterday we were told that they have not searched Mr. 

11 Jacobs's emails. We are supposed to get --

12 THE COURT: You mean his company emails? 

13 MR. BICE: His company emails. 

14 THE COURT: Okay. 

15 MR. BICE: we were also told yesterday, I believe, 

16 that Sands China had not searched any of its emails, from 

17 we could gather. We have not received anything from Mr. 

18 Levin, although we have been told that we will get those 

19 perhaps tomorrow and that we will get documents from Mr. 

what 

20 Adelson maybe tomorrow or sometime in the future. And these 

21 were, by the way, just we received -- what we received were 

22 just documents. We don't have responses, we don't have any 

23 indication of what they are responsive to, except during a 

24 phone call yesterday where we got a little bit of color on 

25 what some of the documents are. 
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1 So with that in mind, I think it's a little I 

2 mean, I understand their position is, well, we'd like to go, 

3 and, of course, that's easy to say when we don't have the 

4 documents and we've got to take these depositions yet. And 

5 we're clearly, based on yesterday's call, going to have to 

6 have a motion to compel because of what we were told. 

7 

8 

THE COURT: Or a motion to exclude. 

MR. BICE: Well, it's a little -- or a motion for 

9 adverse inferences for failure to produce. 

10 

11 

12 

THE COURT: Or a motion for adverse inferences. 

MR. BICE: And the Court can 

THE COURT: There's a lot of different things you 

13 could do in conjunction with this that doesn't cause me to 

14 have to move that date --

15 

16 

17 Well, no. 

18 

19 

20 

21 we? 

MR. BICE: Okay. 

THE COURT: -- which we set about six months ago. 

Three months ago? 

MR. PEEK: More than that, Your Honor. 

MR. BICE: No. This was --

THE COURT: Set it in January or February, didn't 

22 MR. BICE: No, because we -- this was the original 

23 start of the trial date. We were on this stack for the trial 

24 date. That's how this got set. So 

25 THE COURT: Well, no. We had -- originally I had a 
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1 date around Thanksgiving, and then I had a date of January, 

2 and then I had a date in March. Now I have this date. I've 

3 always had this date for the trial, but I can't do the trial, 

4 because everything's stayed till resolve the jurisdictional 

5 issue. So you're going to file some motions, huh? 

6 MR. BICE: Well, I think we are going to file some 

7 motions. The status where we are at is we have produced Mr. 

8 Jacobs's -- and this is again where we're at a little bit of a 

9 disadvantage. We have produced Mr. Jacobs's electronic 

10 storage equipment per an agreement we have worked out to 

11 advance discovery. Advance discovery I think has done its 

12 first round of segregation of the information or is in the 

13 process of completing that. Then the documents are going to 

14 go to them for review, sort of as we had previously outlined. 

15 We've modified that somewhat by agreement amongst the parties. 

16 So part of our other problem is we -- they obviously 

17 have said before, and you've granted their motion, about 

18 deposing Mr. Jacobs. Well, we aren't allowed to look at Mr. 

19 Jacobs's own documents. So, again, we think it's a little 

20 unfair for us to be defending our client at a deposition when 

21 we can't review his own documents. So that again is another 

22 problem. 

23 I think another problem is we got a letter, I don't 

24 remember what day it was, I think it was a couple of days ago, 

25 and I think it's pretty clear we're going to have a little 
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1 tussle about Mr. Adelson's deposition. Even though you've 

2 ordered it, we got a letter -- it's been noticeable to us that 

3 we haven't been provided a date for Mr. Adelson's deposition, 

4 and now we get a letter saying that, well, they're reserving 

5 the right to come back to the Court not to have Mr. Adelson's 

6 deposition. So we've got to bring that issue to a head, too. 

7 THE COURT: They can always ask me not to let it. 

8 But you've got to set it first. Then they'll file a motion 

9 that says, hey, Judge, don't let take his depo. 

10 MR. BICE: Well, I'm trying to -- I don't -- I don't 

11 want to have to set them unilaterally, but apparently that's 

12 what we're going to have to do with respect to him. But, 

13 again, we've got to get documents from them. 

14 

15 case? 

16 

17 

18 

THE COURT: Isn't Steve Morris his lawyer in this 

MR. BICE: Not --

THE COURT: Not anymore, huh? 

MR. BICE: Well, yes. In the defamation component 

19 of it, yes, that's right, he is. 

20 But again, we don't have documents from Mr. Adelson, 

21 Mr. Levin, or Mr. Goldstein. 

22 THE COURT: And when are the depos scheduled? 

23 MR. BICE: Well, we -- they have proposed dates for 

24 them, Mr. Kay I think sometime next -- the 2nd, and then 

25 they've given us dates that they propose for Mr. Levin and Mr. 
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1 Goldstein. But again, that's a little bit advantageous for 

2 them to give us dates when we don't have the documents. 

3 THE COURT: Really-- we're really slipping 

4 backwards. So why haven't we produced the documents sooner? 

5 MR. PEEK: Well, Your Honor, I guess I can address 

6 the Las Vegas Sands issues, and then [inaudible], and Mr. --

7 

8 

9 

10 right. 

11 

THE COURT: Weissman. Mr. Weissman. 

MR. PEEK: Weissman, excuse me. 

THE COURT: I wrote the name down so I'd get it 

MR. PEEK: I know. I talk to him all the time, and 

12 I was just -- I had a senior moment, Your Honor. 

13 THE COURT: I'm not saying anything about that, Mr. 

14 Peek. 

15 MR. PEEK: I don't want to say anything about it. 

16 That 40 years I think has gotten to me. 

17 Your Honor, we have produced documents in response 

18 to their requests for production sometime ago in rolling 

19 production. We did produce documents in March, we produced 

20 documents last week. Additional documents we're going to 

21 produce additional documents this Friday. We have proposed 

22 dates to them for -- on at least two occasions asking them to 

23 select a date for Mr. Kay, Mr. Goldstein, and Mr. Levin, and 

24 they have refused to take a date. But when Mr. Bice stands up 

25 and says we haven't produced any documents till just the other 
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1 day, that's not correct. We produced documents back in March, 

2 and then we identified, as well, Your Honor, in a first 

3 supplement documents that had been previously produced you 

4 may recall that we had started production of documents under 

5 the ESI protocols back in summer of last year. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

THE 

MR. 

THE 

MR. 

THE 

MR. 

COURT: 

PEEK: 

COURT: 

PEEK: 

COURT: 

PEEK: 

Correct. 

And so we 

Prior to the stay. 

Pardon? 

Prior to the stay. 

Prior to the stay. And so we identified 

12 documents within that grouping that were responsive to their 

13 request. We have -- I gave him a disk last week, and then I 

14 identified by Bate numbers this week the documents -- which 

15 document is responsive to each request. They've insisted on 

16 an index. We're going to provide them with an index, as well, 

17 of the documents. 

18 

19 

THE COURT: Smart decision on your part. 

MR. PEEK: I've got to argue these issues, Your 

20 Honor. I think-- well, I'll leave that for another day. 

21 So when they say that they don't have documents, 

22 they do. 

23 With respect to Jacobs, Jacobs -- I'll have to let 

24 Mr. Weissman deal with Mr. Jacobs, because those are issues 

25 that are of Sands China, because he was a Sands China 
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1 executive, not a Las Vegas Sands executive. So we don't have 

2 documents on our server related to Mr. Jacobs. So when he 

3 says we haven't searched Mr. Jacobs, he is correct; because we 

4 don't have things to search for Mr. Jacobs. 

5 THE COURT: So he didn't have a separate email 

6 address within the Las Vegas Sands server 

7 MR. PEEK: That is my understanding, Your Honor. 

8 THE COURT: email server? 

9 MR. PEEK: His was a .roo, which is the designation 

10 for Macau 

11 THE COURT: Okay. 

12 MR. PEEK: -- as opposed to a .com, which would be 

13 the Las Vegas Sands or the venetian.com. So he didn't have 

14 that. With respect to the ESI of Mr. Jacobs, I'll let Mr. 

15 Weissman address that issue. 

16 So I guess that my issue is that my clients, who are 

17 executives of Las Vegas Sands, are ready and prepared to go 

18 forward with their depositions on the dates that we've 

19 suggested to them. We've suggested them twice, you know, pick 

20 a date. 

21 THE COURT: And at this point you believe you have 

22 fully complied with your discovery obligations in preparation 

23 for this jurisdictional hearing? 

24 MR. PEEK: Yes, Your Honor, in the sense that we 

25 have commenced production and we will continue to produce. 
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1 THE COURT: Okay. 

2 MR. PEEK: And they 

3 THE COURT: When do you anticipate --

4 MR. PEEK: They quarrel with I think some of the 

5 depositions -- excuse me, some of the discovery. 

6 THE COURT: When do you anticipate completing your 

7 rolling disclosures? 

8 MR. PEEK: We will have Mr. Levin and Mr. Goldstein 

9 by this Friday. We're working on Mr. Adelson, and we should 

10 have Mr. Adelson hopefully by the end of next week, but, if 

11 not, no later than the following week, which is the first week 

12 of June. 

13 

14 

15 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. PEEK: But we hope to have it next week. 

THE COURT: Understanding there may be an issue 

16 about whether they agree with your production, do you believe, 

17 given that rolling production schedule, you will have fully 

18 complied with your discovery obligations in preparation for 

19 the evidentiary hearing by the first week of June? 

20 

21 

22 

23 

MR. PEEK: Yes, Your Honor 

THE COURT: Okay. Thanks. 

MR. PEEK: -- I do. 

THE COURT: Mr. Weissman. I know you've sort of 

24 been thrown in this because somebody's back went out, but I 

25 appreciate you being here, and to the extent you can 
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1 intelligently answer questions, I will truly appreciate it. 

2 MR. WEISSMAN: I'll do my best. And it's a pleasure 

3 to be here, Your Honor. Thank you. 

4 First of all, let me just start by saying we, too, 

5 feel very strongly that the hearing should go forward as 

6 planned on June 25th or 26th. Sands China Limited doesn't 

7 believe it should be in this case to begin with, and we're 

8 eager to get that issue heard and decided as soon as possible. 

9 THE COURT: I've been ordered to conduct an 

10 evidentiary hearing, and I'm doing my best to get there. 

11 MR. WEISSMAN: Thank you. We appreciate that. 

12 And to that end, as the Court may recall, we don't 

13 believe that the facts that are relevant to the jurisdictional 

14 issue are in dispute. So we offered to stipulate to those 

15 facts some time ago. Plaintiffs felt that that stipulation 

16 didn't go far enough, they wanted more detail, so hence the 

17 document production and deposition process that we have 

18 ongoing. But we think this-- it's ready to it's 

19 appropriate to bring this to a conclusion. 

20 With respect to Mr. Jacobs's ESI, we thought that 

21 was the purpose of the protocol that has been discussed many 

22 times with the Court since last October of delivering the 

23 documents that he has to the ESI vendor so they can be 

24 reviewed. I'm assuming that contains his email, since there's 

25 quite a lot of data. 
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1 THE COURT: Don't make that assumption. 

2 MR. WEISSMAN: Well, I think the first thing that 

3 should --

4 THE COURT: It would be bad for your to make that 

5 assumption, because one would hope that his emails were on 

6 your server. 

7 MR. WEISSMAN: Another image of them presumably 

8 would be. 

9 THE COURT: Well, that's where they should be, is on 

10 the email server. He may have an extra or a duplicate copy 

11 that's on his laptop and the other storage devices he has. 

12 MR. WEISSMAN: Right. 

13 

14 server. 

15 

THE COURT: But they'd better be on your email 

MR. WEISSMAN: Sure. 

16 THE COURT: Because if they're not on your email 

17 server, boy, we'll have a lot of problems. 

18 MR. WEISSMAN: Understood. But in terms of --

19 THE COURT: Okay. So when are they going to get 

20 produced? 

21 MR. WEISSMAN: In terms of process, Your Honor, 

22 we're going to go through a very elaborate and lengthy and 

23 costly process to review Mr. Jacobs's ESI. It seems to us 

24 that process should run its course before we're obligated to 

25 go back and look at whatever emails we have of his, as well. 
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1 Why would we do it twice? 

2 THE COURT: So you're telling me you haven't 

3 produced any of them and you haven't begun the process. 

4 MR. WEISSMAN: That's correct. 

5 THE COURT: Okay. The hearing is vacated. I will 

6 see you to discuss rescheduling of the hearing on June 28th. 

7 At that time I want an update as to where Sands China is with 

8 respect to the production of the ESI of Mr. Jacobs and the 

9 fulfillment of all of the discovery obligations which we have 

10 discussed for the evidentiary hearing to occur. 

11 Anything else? 

12 MR. PEEK: Your Honor, I know you did -- I knew you 

13 did --

14 THE COURT: Thank you -- thank you for being 

15 grilled, Mr. Peek. I really appreciate you going first and 

16 being grilled, because I got -- I set it up for the way that 

17 hopefully we'd get the right answers. 

18 MR. PEEK: Yeah. Well, there's one thing that I 

19 don't think Mr. Weissman was allowed to even really address, 

20 because I know that you asked him a question. But Mr. Bice 

21 made much of the fact that, well, we've complied with the 

22 production of the Jacobs ESI to the vendor. 

23 THE COURT: Well, you don't have it yet. I know 

24 that. 

25 MR. PEEK: That's 

14 

0194



.. .. 
1 THE COURT: I got that part. 

2 MR. PEEK: Okay. They just now 

3 MR. BICE: And I don't think-- I don't think I made 

4 much of it. 

5 THE COURT: How do you think I missed that, Mr. 

6 Peek? 

7 MR. PEEK: They just now produced that, Your Honor. 

8 So those issues that related to the Jacobs ESI --

9 THE COURT: We do not stagger discovery obligations, 

10 period, end of story. The only time I stagger discovery 

11 obligations is where I have expert issues where I know the 

12 expert opinions are dependent on others, and then I frequently 

13 stagger them. I do not stagger initial discovery disclosures. 

14 And having someone tell me they're not going to begin the 

15 search of their own email server until they've had a chance to 

16 review Mr. Jacobs's email off of his laptop is not an 

17 appropriate response. 

18 MR. PEEK: Your Honor, you may recall --and I don't 

19 mean to argue with -- respectfully. 

20 THE COURT: It's okay, Mr. Peek. You and I have 

21 argued for 25 years. 

22 MR. PEEK: We have, Your Honor. And I don't mean to 

23 cut --

24 THE COURT: And I finally get to get the better of 

25 your every once in a while now. 
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1 MR. PEEK: Yeah. This is certainly one of them. 

2 Well, this is not -- this is more Mr. Weissman's fight than 

3 mine. But you may recall that the issues that were raised by 

4 Sands China, as well as by Las Vegas Sands, with respect to 

5 the Jacobs ESI is that motion in limine which was filed a long 

6 time ago that Jacobs doesn't even get an opportunity to have 

7 access to the Sands China ernails because of his conduct of how 

8 what he has carne into his possession. 

9 THE COURT: And I'm not ready to hear the motion in 

10 limine and make that decision 

11 

12 

MR. PEEK: But if we produce all those documents --

THE COURT: until I get to the discovery. You 

13 haven't done the discovery yet. 

14 

15 is 

MR. PEEK: But -- I guess where I'm going with that 

I'm not trying to-- in terms of the staggering, that's 

16 where I was kind of going, Your Honor, is that Sands China is 

17 kind of put into that position of --

18 

19 today. 

20 

THE COURT: Remember, you don't represent them 

MR. PEEK: Yes, I do represent Sands China Limited, 

21 Your Honor. I am local counsel for them. 

22 THE COURT: Oh. Are you? 

23 MR. PEEK: Yes, I am. 

24 THE COURT: Okay. 

25 MR. PEEK: You may recall, Your Honor, they have to 
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1 have somebody here, and it's me. I got the long straw, Your 

2 Honor, the winning straw. 

3 But in terms of staggering, the way the motion in 

4 limine had been set up and what you had least addressed to 

5 Sands China at the time, Ms. Glaser, was, well, that's 

6 something that we only can address once you have an 

7 opportunity to see what's on the --

8 THE COURT: True. 

9 MR. PEEK: -- the Jacobs ESI that he has in his 

10 possession. So if we give them all of the ESI from our own, 

11 it defeats the whole notion of giving them access to documents 

12 in that motion in limine. So that's why I think there was a 

13 

14 

15 

staggering of it. 

THE COURT: 

MR. PEEK: 

I disagree with your analysis. 

Okay. 

16 THE COURT: I certainly respect there are going to 

17 be issues about the admissibility of certain evidence at the 

18 time of our evidentiary hearing, which is why I'm shocked we 

19 haven't got to the deposition stage yet, because I won't have 

20 any time to do evidentiary issues at this point. So I don't 

21 know when you're going to be ready, but clearly you're not 

22 going to be ready for a hearing at the end of June. 

23 MR. PEEK: Well, we don't even know, Your Honor, 

24 whether a search of the Jacobs on the Macau server is going to 

25 be such that we couldn't be ready. So that's why-- I mean, I 
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1 appreciate you vacated that date, but we very well --

2 THE COURT: It's less than five weeks before our 

3 scheduled hearing and the search has yet to begin. I 

4 understand what you're telling me, and I would love to find a 

5 place to reset you. It may not be very easy given my ongoing 

6 schedule for the next year. 

7 MR. PEEK: Well, that raises an interesting 

8 question, as well, Your Honor, that perhaps when we come back 

9 on the 28th we can talk about -- maybe this is just something 

10 that needs to be briefed. I don't know that you really need 

11 live witnesses. You can certainly 

12 THE COURT: I'm always happy to take that approach, 

13 and it may be that after you guys have been able to complete 

14 the depositions and the exchange of documents that are 

15 appropriate that we can do this on briefing. But until you've 

16 done what you're supposed to have done since November of last 

17 year I'm not in a position to have a hearing or even set a 

18 briefing schedule. 

19 MR. PEEK: Well, you say since November of last 

20 year. We didn't get requests for production until much after 

21 November, and they were also ordered to give the Jacobs 

22 protocol in November we just got it in May. 

23 THE COURT: We've been talking about how to get this 

24 evidentiary hearing scheduled in accordance with the writ that 

25 was issued since, what, last October? 
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2 

.. .. 
MR. PEEK: We did, Your Honor, because we started. 

THE COURT: And right after that writ came down I 

3 called you all in for a status hearing --

4 

5 

MR. PEEK: You did. You did. 

THE COURT: to try and figure out what we needed 

6 to do to get that evidentiary hearing set. And we have been 

7 struggling with that since that time. 

8 MR. PEEK: And we want it to go forward as quickly 

9 as we can, Your Honor. 

10 THE COURT: I want it resolved one way or the other 

11 so that I can finish the assignment the Nevada Supreme Court 

12 gave me and we can either do something with the case or it can 

13 be stayed again while you all go up there. 

14 MR. PEEK: Well, hopefully you'll resolve it 

15 favorably, Your Honor, and Sands China will be gone, we'll 

16 proceed to trial on Las Vegas Sands. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Mr. Peek 

THE COURT: That might happen. 

Anything else? 

MR. BICE: 

was arguing 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

MR. PEEK: 

MR. BICE: 

THE COURT: 

I have a lot of disagreement with what 

It doesn't matter. 

--but I'm not going to-­

You won, Todd. 

Yeah, it doesn't matter. 

All right. Mr. Bice, that means you 
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1 need to communicate to your colleagues in the Corrigan case --

2 MR. BICE: I do. 

3 THE COURT: -- that it looks like you're going. 

4 MR. BICE: Okay. So I'm free to contact Mr. Kennedy 

5 and tell him that -- is it the 26th is going to be the date? 

6 THE COURT: A Tuesday. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

MR. BICE: 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

MR. PEEK: 

THE COURT: 

26th. 

And you guys said you needed two weeks. 

I believe that is correct. 

We just picked up a week, Your Honor. 

Well, no. We'd already talked about 

12 when their two weeks were. They were going to wait till you 

13 were finished, and we were worried about the Harmon Hotel 

14 thing, too. 

15 MR. PEEK: So we come back on the 28th, Your Honor, 

16 which is a --

17 THE COURT: You're coming back on the 28th, and 

18 somebody's going to tell me-- and I'd like a status report 

19 the day before; I know it's hard for you sometimes to get them 

20 to me -- that tells me, Judge, we have made our best efforts 

21 and I can certify to you we did X, Y, and Z and either we 

22 found stuff or we didn't find stuff and now we have to review 

23 it for privilege, blah, blah, blah, and it's going to take 

24 this long. 

25 MR. PEEK: Thank you, Your Honor. 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

.. .. 
MR. BICE: Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Goodbye. 

MR. WEISSMAN: Thank you. 

MR. PEEK: Goodbye. 

THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 9:33 A.M. 

* * * * * 
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1 one. 

2 Number two, this control -- the government 

3 investigations that are occurring, they have the same 

4 roadblock, the same stone wall that every else has. They are 

5 not -- they are not even permitting the government to come in 

6 and look at documents, period. It is only Sands China lawyers 

7 who are being allowed to even start the process of reviewing 

8 documents. There are no documents that have been produced 

9 that have -- from Sands China to the federal government in any 

10 way, shape, or form. And I need to be very clear about that, 

11 Your Honor. 

12 So I appreciate that Counsel doesn't have knowledge 

13 of that. I'm representing that to the Court. We understand 

14 that that is an issue that will have to be dealt with down the 

15 road. But it is certainly not happening now. 

16 THE COURT: Okay. The motion is denied. At this 

17 time it is premature. As I indicated, my anticipation is that 

18 the initial document production for those documents that Ms. 

19 Glaser and her other co-counsel believe are appropriate for 

20 production need to initially be produced. If there is a 

21 limitation that is appropriate in order to avoid violation of 

22 Macau law, you should, of course, limit the production. There 

23 will then be a motion to compel, and at that point we may be 

24 in a position to address the motion for stay. Today's not the 

25 day. I keep saying that. 
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1 MS. GLASER: Not a problem. 

2 THE COURT: Right? 

3 MR. PEEK: Your Honor 

4 MR. CAMPBELL: I just now --

5 MR. PEEK: let me just add one thing, because I 

6 didn't address this. That same Data Privacy Act, Your Honor, 

7 also implicates communications that may be on servers and 

email communication 8 and hard document -- hard-copy documents 

9 in Las Vegas --

10 THE COURT: Here in the States? 

11 MR. PEEK: -- Sands, as well. 

12 THE COURT: Well, you can take the position 

13 MR. PEEK: Well, we are told that by the --

14 THE COURT: It's okay. 

15 MR. PEEK: -- the Office of Data Privacy 

16 THE COURT: You can take the position --

17 MR. PEEK: -- counsel, Your Honor. And I'll 

18 we'll brief that with the Court. Again --

19 THE COURT: . And then I'll decide. 

20 MS. GLASER: No problem. Your Honor, the only 

21 reason I want to emphasize this is this isn't a function of 

22 jumping through hoops. If we're in violation of the Privacy 

23 Act, there are criminal implications 

24 THE COURT: I understand. 

25 MS. GLASER: -- and we treat that seriously. 
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THE COURT: We had that discussion about a month 

MR. PEEK: We did, yeah. 

THE COURT: And I said I thought it was premature 

5 and that when we got there we could talk about a stay. 

6 MR. PEEK: And the reason why we're bringing it is, 

7 you may recall it, in our joint status report, Your Honor, we 

8 told the Court that we thought we would be able to produce 

9 documents by July 1. We're not going to be able to make that 

10 date, because 

11 THE COURT: Why not? You've had documents that 

12 aren't covered by this that you didn't produce 

13 MR. PEEK: Well, no, no. We will those documents 

14 that are not implicated, Your Honor, by the 

15 THE COURT: Certainly. 

16 MR. PEEK: -- Data Privacy Act we will. 

17 THE COURT: Okay. 

18 MR. PEEK: The other 

19 THE COURT: Don't wait and produce all the documents 

20 after you think you can comply with --

21 MR. PEEK: Let me -- let me finish, Your Honor. The 

22 other thing is we haven't completed the ESI protocol 

23 negotiations and the search terms with Mr. Campbell and Mr. 

24 Williams yet. We have had many meetings with them, and we're 

25 I think at the last stage. Perhaps Mr. Williams could tell 
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1 us, because we had a couple meet and confers on that, and we 

2 haven't completed that process, so we haven't been able to 

3 even run search terms. 

4 THE COURT: When are you going to finish the 

5 process? 

6 MR. PEEK: I guess it's -- Mr. Williams can --

7 THE COURT: Mr. Justin Jones is going to come help 

8 us. He and Mr. Williams are probably the two who labored on 

9 this. 

10 

11 

12 

13 said that 

14 

15 

16 

MR. PEEK: And Mr. Krum, as well, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And Mr. Krum. 

MS. GLASER: Your Honor, the only thing that you 

THE COURT: 

MS. GLASER: 

THE COURT: 

Hold on a second. 

-- I just didn't want you to -­

So when is the ESI going to be 

17 completed, the negotiations on the scope of the ESI search? 

18 MR. JONES: Mr. Williams and I talked a minute ago, 

19 and I think we'll get it wrapped up tomorrow. We met last 

20 week. There were a couple of issues that needed --

21 THE COURT: So you now have a 2:00 o'clock 

22 conference call with me to say, yes, Judge, we got it worked 

23 out, okay. 

24 MR. JONES: 2:00 o'clock tomorrow? 

25 THE COURT: 2:00 o'clock tomorrow. Mr. Jones, 
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1 you're --

2 Justin Jones is charge of organizing the call and 

3 calling in. 

4 MR. JONES: I'll be in a vehicle at the time, but I 

5 will make sure that it happens. 

6 THE COURT: It's okay. All right. 

7 MS. GLASER: Your Honor, you made a comment, well, 

8 you should be able to start producing documents now. 

9 THE COURT: True. 

10 MS. GLASER: My only comment to you is that we have 

11 to get permission to get documents out of Macau. 

12 THE COURT: All documents from Sands China have to 

13 get permission from the Office of Privacy? 

14 MS. GLASER: Oh, yeah. Absolutely. 

15 

16 

MR. PEEK: Yes. 

THE COURT: Well, if that's -- if that's what you 

17 think the answer is, then somebody should file a protective 

18 order soon if you don't have a stip. 

19 MS. GLASER: Understood. We'll --we will do that, 

20 Your Honor, and be guided accordingly. Thank you. 

21 MR. PEEK: Yeah. And that's -- we're also going to 

22 say we're going to do this on a briefing schedule, Your Honor, 

23 as well. 

24 THE COURT: It's like I've been trying to say. At 

25 some point in time it's going to be ripe, and I'm almost 
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1 there, it sounds like. But I can't just do it on the fly with 

2 you guys telling me this at the last minute. 

3 Mr. Campbell, you're waving at me. 

4 MR. CAMPBELL: Thank you, Your Honor. 

5 Your Honor, we don't accept nor deny what Ms. Glaser 

6 has proffered to the Court. We don't know what the situation 

7 is there. That's our position. We certainly would like to 

8 talk to someone with respect to some of the representations 

9 that have been made that has the knowledge of Macau law. But, 

10 irrespective of that, we are not waiving anything in that 

11 regard. There's a United States Supreme Court case right on 

12 point that says, we don't care what foreign law says, you've 

13 got to produce documents, particularly when they're in the 

14 jurisdiction in which the litigation is taking place like they 

15 are here. 

16 But separate and apart from all that, she left 

17 something out. And that was she wants to hold back on 

18 producing Mr. Adelson and Mr. Levin for their depositions that 

19 I've been asking to take for weeks and weeks and weeks. So I 

20 talked to her about that, and I said, okay, here's the deal, I 

21 said, when do you want to hold back until; she says, about mid 

22 August. I said, not a problem. Mr. Peek says, we might need 

23 a little additional more time; I said, fine, let's go 

24 beginning September. We're all playing -- as the Court's fond 

25 of saying, we're all playing nicely. 
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THE COURT: Play nice in the sandbox, yeah. 

MR. CAMPBELL: Let's go September. So I wanted to 

3 take, you know, Mr. Adelson and Mr. Levin a couple months ago, 

4 okay. But they want until September, that's fine, I want to 

5 take them in September. That's all I have to say. 

6 

7 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MS. GLASER: Your Honor, I have to say one thing. A 

8 month ago -- we sat in a meet confer approximately a month 

9 ago, and we urged Mr. Campbell to then hire Macau counsel to 

10 get separate advice from anything we were telling him, and 

11 that apparently has not occurred, number one. Number two --

12 and that's not our fault. And we've had, believe me, four 

13 different opinions on this point from different Macau counsel 

14 because it's of such concern to us. 

15 Number two, absolutely we had a conversation about 

16 Mr. Levin and Mr. Adelson. There was never -- and we have 

17 always told everyone that depositions will start once we 

18 review the documents. 

19 THE COURT: Technically depositions can start March 

20 15th, when I suspended the requirement of a joint case 

21 conference report unless you file a protective order --

22 MR. PEEK: Your Honor --

23 THE COURT: -- after being properly noticed. 

24 MR. PEEK: -- you may recall we filed a joint status 

25 report. 
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1 MS. GLASER: Yes. 

2 MR. PEEK: In that joint status report we both 

3 agreed, which we both signed, is that they would 

4 THE COURT: I know. That's why I said technically. 

5 MR. PEEK: I know. 

6 THE COURT: All right. So you guys have a dispute. 

7 Somebody's going to either notice a deposition or not. If 

8 somebody notices a deposition, maybe somebody will file a 

9 protective order motion if you guys can't work it out, and 

10 then, if you do, we'll talk about it. 

11 MR. CAMPBELL: I don't think we have a dispute. 

12 That's the point. 

13 THE COURT: I don't know if you -- I don't think you 

14 have a dispute yet. 

15 

16 

17 

MR. PEEK: We don't. we don't, Your Honor. 

MS. GLASER: We're working on it. 

MR. CAMPBELL: I didn't mean to suggest -- I didn't 

18 mean to suggest that Ms. Glaser and I had a dispute 

19 

20 

THE COURT: You will have disputes. 

MR. CAMPBELL: -- on the deposition issue. I'm 

21 advising you --

22 

23 

24 

25 trial? 

THE COURT: It's okay. 

MR. CAMPBELL: I'm advising you she's asked for 

THE COURT: When are you going to be ready for 
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1 MR. CAMPBELL: Your Honor, could I just finish one 

2 thing? 

3 MS. GLASER: Tomorrow. 

4 MR. PEEK: Ms. Glaser thinks she's ready right now, 

5 Your Honor. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MR. CAMPBELL: Your Honor, so I we don't have a 

dispute on that. I have told Ms. Glaser, yes, let's move the 

depositions out. I've also told Ms. Glaser I'll put on the 

record she asked me if I would take Mr. Levin first. I will 

take Mr. Levin first, and then we will take Mr. Adelson, 

beginning sometime on or after the 1st of September. 

One additional matter. If they're coming back to 

the Court on this Macau issue, one of the things that Mr. 

Adelson has been saying publicly is that the United States 

Department of Justice and/or the Securities and Exchange 

Commission have been serving subpoenas and they have been 

producing documents to the United States Government either in 

a civil proceeding or criminal proceeding, I don't know. But 

we want to know if they're -- if they're producing documents 

to the United States Government. That certainly I think would 

have an impact upon what we're doing here. 

MS. GLASER: Mr. Campbell, I'm sure unintentionally, 

is just wrong. And I'll be glad to discuss it out of Your 

Honor's presence. 

THE COURT: I don't need to worry about it. Mr. 
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1 Campbell, you can always serve a document request or something 

2 asking for that sort of information, or an interrogatory, and 

3 I'm sure you'll get an answer, or you could just talk. 

4 When will you be ready for trial? Assume we work 

5 through the document production issue in say a period of time 

6 that the documents have been ruled on and either I've decided 

7 you don't have to produce them or I decide you have to produce 

8 them and then get them produced by October. With that 

9 assumption, when will you be ready for trial? 

10 MS. GLASER: I'm hoping to be out of the case, so 

11 I'm going to not say anything right now, Your Honor. 

12 MR. CAMPBELL: Well, I think we're currently set for 

13 end of June. 

14 MR. PEEK: We --

15 THE COURT: You're not set. 

16 MR. PEEK: We told the Court, Your Honor, based upon 

17 the schedule that we presented to the Court in the joint 

18 status report and we -- and we then attended it in August 22nd 

19 of this year. We told the Court that based on the schedule 

20 that we were hopeful we could meet that we should be able to 

21 be ready for trial by June of 2011 [sic] . Because the process 

22 with the Data Privacy Counsel is process and very laborious, 

23 we're not going to be able to meet the Sands China part of 

24 this equation, the production of documents, until I don't know 

25 when. I'm hopeful that we can get it done very soon. But 
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1 when they say to us that they have to review each and every 

2 document that we propose to produce to determine whether or 

3 not, one, we have consent, whether it meets their statute, 

4 whether or not we have a stipulated protective order from Mr. 

5 Campbell that says that it will only be used in this 

6 proceeding that was one of the steps that we thought would 

7 be helpful to the data privacy counsel. So that process is 

8 very laborious. I don't think we can make this case in trial 

9 in June, Your Honor, of 2011. 

10 THE COURT: Well, you're not going to make June 

11 2011, because it's June 2011 now. I think --

12 

13 

14 

MR. PEEK: Excuse me. June 2012. My apologies. 

THE COURT: I think we talked about June 2012 -­

THE COURT: I apologize. 

15 THE COURT: which leads me back to my burning 

16 question of Mr. Morris. 

17 Mr. Morris, have you heard anything about a decision 

18 on the CityCenter case? 

19 MR. MORRIS: You know, Your Honor, I wish I had, but 

20 I haven't. 

21 THE COURT: Okay. All right. 

22 MR. MORRIS: I know that it's coming. 

23 THE COURT: Some day. They're worried about 

24 elections right now. Special elections I think is going to be 

25 their hot button topic for a little bit. 
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1 MR. PEEK: So I would be hopeful that we could make 

2 it June 2012, but I think it's going to be later than that, 

3 Your Honor. 

4 THE COURT: Okay. Assume with me for a minute that 

5 you only get five and a half hours of trial time a day. How 

6 many days of trial, Mr. Campbell? 

7 MR. CAMPBELL: Two weeks. 

8 THE COURT: So I'm doubling that. So that's four to 

9 six. 

10 MR. PEEK: Four to six, Your Honor. 

11 THE COURT: Okay. Here's the problem. If you don't 

12 make the June date, I've already given the September date, 

13 which would be probably the next place I could put you with a 

14 firm setting, to the Planet Hollywood West Tower litigation, 

15 which is a four- to six-week. And I will have to give you a 

16 firm date because of your international witnesses. So I would 

17 encourage you to file whatever you're going to file about the 

18 Macau issue very soon. And if you do it on an OST, I'm going 

19 to set it out two to three weeks, even though that's shortened 

20 time technically, so that the briefing can be thorough so that 

21 we will have a well-reasoned discussion when we have the 

22 chance. But I don't want to have you guys just sitting 

23 around. 

24 

25 

MR. PEEK: We are not, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Okay. I'm going to give you the trial 
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1 date in June 2012 for the record, with the understanding there 

2 may be problems. And if there are problems, you'll tell me 

3 about them sooner, rather than later. That trial stack starts 

4 on June 25th, 2012. That is a firm setting for you. 

5 The calendar call is June 21, 2012. 

6 You've demanded a jury; right, Mr. Campbell? 

7 MR. CAMPBELL: Yes. 

8 THE COURT: June 1st, 2011 [sic], for the pretrial. 

9 And my typical day for people to file their last set 

10 of motions, which for your purposes would be evidentiary 

11 motions and motions in limine, would be May 4th. 

12 Motions for summary judgment, motions to dismiss, 

13 other dispositive motions would be due on April 13th, which 

14 means your discovery cutoff's probably going to be sometime 

15 around March 23rd. 

16 MR. PEEK: And we'll back up from that the expert 

17 disclosures, as well. 

18 THE COURT: I guess so. But I really need to get 

19 the document issue decided sooner, rather than later, because 

20 it impacts a number of other issues. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MR. PEEK: Your Honor, we do, as well. 

MS. GLASER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. PEEK: Thank you very much. 

THE COURT: Anything else? All right. Goodbye. 

THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 11:50 A.M. 
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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, THURSDAY, JUNE 9, 2011, 10:03 A.M. 

2 (Court was called to order) 

3 THE COURT: All right. Are we ready with the hookup 

4 to Macau? I see you. Can you see us? Can you hear us? 

5 Why don't you guys come on up. I apparently have 

6 MR. PEEK: This is 1:00 o'clock in the morning 

7 there, Your Honor. 

8 THE COURT: I see a conference room. 

9 MS. GLASER: Your Honor, that is Mr. David Fleming, 

10 who's general counsel of Sands China. 

11 THE COURT: Good morning, Mr. -- Mr. Fleming, I 

12 think it's good morning for you. 

13 MR. FLEMING: It certainly is, Judge. Good morning 

14 to you. 

15 

16 

17 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MS. GLASER: Good morning, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Good morning. Can I have everyone 

18 please identify themselves for purposes of the record, 

19 starting with Mr. Campbell. 

20 MR. CAMPBELL: Good morning, Your Honor. Donald J. 

21 Campbell appearing on behalf of the plaintiff in this action, 

22 Campbell & Williams. 

23 MR. WILLIAMS: Good morning, Your Honor. Colby 

24 Williams, Bar Number 5549, appearing on behalf of the 

25 plaintiff. 
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1 MR. JACOBS: Good morning, Your Honor. Steve 

2 Jacobs, plaintiff. 

3 MS. GLASER: Good morning, Your Honor. Patricia 

4 Glaser for Sands China. And Mr. Fleming is here by whatever 

5 you call this device. 

6 THE COURT: Video conference I think is what we're 

7 calling it today. 

8 MR. PEEK: And good morning, Your Honor. Stephen 

9 Peek on behalf of Las Vegas Sands. 

10 

11 

12 

And good morning, David. How are you this morning? 

MR. FLEMING: I'm not too bad, Steve. 

MR. MORRIS: Good morning, Your Honor. Steve Morris 

13 on behalf of Sheldon Adelson. 

14 THE COURT: All right. I would like to start with 

15 the defamation claim motion first, since I have three that are 

16 basically identical with an omnibus response. However you 

17 want to start. 

18 And, Mr. Fleming, if you cannot hear because counsel 

19 are either not using robust voices or they've strayed away 

20 from a microphone, please let me know, and I will try and get 

21 them back in a position where you can hear them. 

22 MR. FLEMING: I will, Your Honor. 

23 THE COURT: All right. Mr. Morris, I'm going to 

24 start with you. 

25 MR. MORRIS: Your Honor, thank you. Good morning 
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1 and greetings on behalf of Mr. Adelson. 

2 I'm here to argue our motion to dismiss the 

3 defamation claim in this context. The claim made against Mr. 

4 Adelson was one to which he was invited to respond. The 

5 statement he made was by invitation of Mr. Jacobs in his 

6 pleadings that were completely and entirely unnecessary to 

7 support his claim for wrongful termination in breach of 

8 contract. That's the sum and substance of this lawsuit. Not 

9 a single characteristic that was attributed to Mr. Adelson was 

10 necessary to state Mr. Jacobs's claim for discharge in breach 

11 of contract. Not one requirement or interpretation of Rule 8 

12 with respect to a plain and simple statement of claim required 

13 him to describe in the complaint Sheldon Adelson's 

14 characteristics that he said led to or contributed to his 

15 discharge. 

16 This isn't Mr. Jacobs's counsel's first rodeo with 

17 this defendant. This complaint was prepared, I submit and as 

18 we submitted in our papers with supporting reasons, to invite 

19 Mr. Adelson to respond to the allegations Mr. Jacobs makes 

20 against him in his complaint of criminal misconduct. And in 

21 so doing and in adopting this theatrical method of pleading 

22 and then publishing worldwide the allegations that were 

23 altogether unnecessary to support his single claim for 

24 wrongful termination in breach of contract Mr. Adelson, 

25 following the proceedings here on March the 15th, when all of 
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1 these allegations against him personally, rude and 

2 obstreperous, mercurial, demanding Mr. Jacobs engage in 

3 illegal conduct when all of those were republished again 

4 worldwide to the media which was present in court and to which 

5 this complaint and those allegations was plain, it is in this 

6 context during this judicial proceeding, during this lawsuit 

7 in this courtroom that Mr. Adelson made the single statement 

8 that he did on the evening of March the 15th to the Wall 

9 Street Journal, one of the media present in court and 

10 reporting and recycling the claims that Mr. Jacobs made 

11 against him in his complaint. 

12 This is the context in which this fifth claim for 

13 defamation should be evaluated. And if it is evaluated in 

14 this context, the law that pertains to it, in particular as 

15 discussed in Circus Circus Enterprises versus Witherspoon and 

16 the Clark County -- excuse me, the VESI case involving this 

17 court, this Eighth Judicial District Court 

18 THE COURT: Not me that time. 

19 MR. MORRIS: Not you. Not you. 

20 the statements that Mr. -- the statement that Mr. 

21 Adelson made on the evening of March the 15th in the course of 

22 this proceeding was absolutely privileged. And Circus Circus 

23 tells us that absolute privilege is not something that we need 

24 to defer for discovery and for later summary judgment practice 

25 or trial, if necessary; that's a determination that can be 
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made here and now and should be made by you to dismiss this 

defamation claim which is altogether collateral. It's 

ornamental and is unnecessary to advance and to adjudicate the 

4 claim Mr. Jacobs comes to court on. And that is was he 

5 discharged in breach of contract or not. 

6 The opposition to this motion is long on rhetoric 

7 and very short on specifics and almost silent, and that's why 

8 in our reply I called it an empty opposition, on the question 

9 whether in the context in which we face this claim Nevada law 

10 will support continuing this lawsuit for defamation against 

11 Mr. Adelson beyond today. But plaintiff makes a good deal in 

12 his papers in opposition to this motion that there is a 

13 question of fact here that has got to be fleshed out. That 

14 question, although not clearly articulated by the plaintiff, 

15 appears, from reading the opposition twice, to be this. New 

16 York law says that the question of malice with respect to the 

17 statement Mr. Adelson made is something that should be decided 

18 by the trier of fact. I won't quarrel with whether that is an 

19 accurate statement of the law in New York, because the law of 

20 New York, if that is the law, is not the law in Nevada. 

21 This is what our court had to say on this subject in 

22 Circus Circus Enterprises versus Witherspoon. Even where 

23 and I'm now looking at 99 Nev., page 57-- I'm sorry, 61 

24 "The public interest in having people speaking freely 

25 outweighs the risks that individuals will occasionally abuse 
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1 the privilege by making false and malicious statements." That 

2 conclusion, Your Honor, was reached after the court said on 

3 the preceding page, even where the defamatory statements 

4 and we're not saying or contending that Mr. Adelson's 

5 statement was defamatory itself, but assuming that it was, as 

6 the plaintiffs say it was, even where the defamatory 

7 statements are published with knowledge of their falsity and 

8 personal ill will toward the plaintiff, the absolute privilege 

9 still protects them. 

10 With respect to relevance to this proceeding that is 

11 raised elliptically in the opposition to this motion the court 

12 in Witherspoon went on to say, "The defamatory material need 

13 not be relevant in the traditional evidentiary sense, but need 

14 have only •some relation' --" and "some relation" is in quotes 

15 by the court, "to the proceeding. So long as the material has 

16 some bearing on the subject matter of the proceeding it is 

17 absolutely privileged." 

18 Now, consider what Mr. Adelson said on March 15th 

19 following the hearing in this court which gave rise to, as he 

20 said in his statement, the recycling of the allegations made 

21 by Mr. Jacobs against him that are wholly extraneous to the 

22 issues that arise as the consequence of his breach of contract 

23 action against the corporate defendants. All he said in 

24 response to that was, because of this recycling -- and we 

25 cited and have appended some examples -- at the time we wrote 
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1 this motion there were 90,000, 90,000 online hits for the 

2 search term "Steven Jacobs" and "Adelson." It is in that 

3 context of worldwide distribution of altogether scurrilous and 

4 insulting allegations unnecessary to support a claim for 

5 breach of contract made by Mr. Jacobs in his complaint and 

6 recycled as a consequence of the hearing in this Court on 

7 March the 15th that Mr. Adelson said, Mr. Jacobs's allegations 

8 that are now being republished against me are not true, 

9 they're based on lies and fabrications and seem to him to be 

10 the product of delusion. You don't make, I submit to you on 

11 the law that applies to this case, a claim for defamation out 

12 of responding to someone who says, you're a crook, by saying 

13 that that is a fabrication and a lie and it is delusional. 

14 There is nothing wrong, and the law does not say that all you 

15 can do in response to in attack like this that is initiated by 

16 the plaintiff is file an answer and say "denied," which is 

17 about all that opposition has to say. 

18 Mr. Adelson was entitled to, and he did, accept Mr. 

19 Jacobs's invitation to dispute the personal and hostile and 

20 altogether unnecessary allegations of criminal misconduct made 

21 against him. And all he said was, they're not true and 

22 they're imagined. 

23 The law says -- whether you call that absolute 

24 privilege or conditional privilege, the law says it's 

25 privileged, it isn't actionable. And the fact that it 

8 

0008



• • 
1 occurred outside the immediate environs of this courtroom is 

2 immaterial. As the court pointed out in Clark County School 

3 District versus Virtual Education Software. Incorporated, 

4 that's the VESI case I referred to a moment ago, in that case 

5 what I told you a moment ago the court said several years ago 

6 in Witherspoon was brought forward and confirmed by the 

7 Supreme Court in 2009, and it said in that opinion that is 

8 applicable to the situation and the statement that brings us 

9 here today, "The absolute privilege affords parties to 

10 litigation the same protection from liability that exists for 

11 an attorney for defamatory statements made during or in 

12 anticipation of judicial proceedings." You can apply that 

13 statement in this manner. If the lawyers representing a party 

14 initiate an action accusing a defendant of criminal misconduct 

15 and the defendant replies and says, it isn't true, those are 

16 lies being told about me, that the defendant has a privilege 

17 to make that statement. 

18 THE COURT: An absolute privilege under the Clark 

19 County-VESI case. 

20 MR. MORRIS: Correct. And as I said a moment ago, 

21 and I'll close with this, Your Honor, even if this were an 

22 issue of conditional privilege as arises from time to time in 

23 New York, including the case relied on by the plaintiff in his 

24 opposition, it doesn't raise an issue of fact that must be 

25 determined by the jury. Our court said in the Anzalone case, 
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1 which is State versus Eighth Judicial District Court -- that's 

2 not you, either, Your Honor, it was Judge Mahan 

3 THE COURT: No, it's not me, either. You found a 

4 couple that weren't me today, Mr. Morris. 

5 MR. MORRIS: -- applying this privilege is a 

6 question of law. And then the court went on to say with 

7 respect to the conditional privilege of reply, if somebody 

8 calls you a crook or a liar, you're free to respond to that so 

9 long as the reply does not include substantial defamatory 

10 matter that is irrelevant or nonresponsive. 

11 Mr. Adelson's statement in this case was specific 

12 and wholly responsive to the allegations that had been made 

13 against him of criminal misconduct in discharging Mr. Jacobs 

14 or in the -- related to the discharge of Mr. Jacobs. The 

15 alleged defamatory material would have to be disproportionate 

16 to the initial statement. All Mr. Adelson said was, I can't 

17 remain silent while these terrible accusations made against me 

18 in a privileged pleading are being recycled by Mr. Jacobs. 

19 So we have two of the four requirements of Anzalone 

20 being met. What's the third? It's the statement shall not be 

21 excessively publicized. The statement Mr. Adelson made was 

22 publicized to one of the many media that was invited to this 

23 court. But even if he had publicized it to all of them, the 

24 result wouldn't be any different, because this is the media to 

25 which Mr. Jacobs is playing, the same media that he encouraged 
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1 and invited to come to court to film and to report and to talk 

2 about and to distribute worldwide all of the nasty and vicious 

3 things he was saying about Sheldon Adelson is the same 

4 audience to whom Mr. Adelson made this response. And it is 

5 under State versus Eighth Judicial District Court entirely 

6 appropriate and not excessive. 

7 And the fourth issue is whether a statement was made 

8 with malice in the sense of actual spite or ill will. Well, 

9 you've looked at the cases that we have and the opposition has 

10 cited to with respect to statements much more personal and 

11 inflammatory than those made by Mr. Adelson which were held to 

12 be within the privilege of reply, such as the plaintiff is 

13 insane, he or she is crazy, he is or she is delusional. These 

14 are the statements that courts have looked at and said in 

15 context, as I ask you to do here, if someone says of you 

16 publicly in a pleading, you're a vicious, nasty, evil person 

17 and you are a criminal, you have the absolute right to reply. 

18 And unless the law changes, you can say, you know, Mr. Jacobs, 

19 in my opinion those statements are based on lies and 

20 fabrications, some of the same lies that were articulated to 

21 you, Your Honor, in this courtroom on March the 15th by 

22 Patricia Glaser on behalf of Sands China, and in my opinion 

23 claiming that I have or am responsible for your discharge 

24 because I'm rude and obstreperous, I'm mercurial, I'm a 

25 difficult person to deal with and I'm a criminal in my opinion 
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1 is a lie. Those statements and my characterization of those 

2 statements are absolutely privileged under the circumstances 

3 and facts of this case. And even if they were not, if the 

4 conditional privilege applies, we have demonstrated and there 

5 isn't any argument to the contrary other than rhetoric, that 

6 the statement made by Mr. Adelson on March the 15th included 

7 substantial defamatory statement that was irrelevant or 

8 nonresponsive, that it was -- included material that was 

9 disproportionate to the initial statement, that it was 

10 excessively publicized, or that it was made in the sense of 

ll actual spite or ill will. 

12 And on that last point consider what the court 

13 concluded with in discussing conditional privilege for 

14 defamation in State versus Eighth Judicial District Court. 

15 "The test for whether a statement constitutes fact or opinion 

16 is whether a reasonable person would be likely to understand 

17 the remark as an expression of the source's opinion or as a 

18 statement of existing fact." And I submit to you, Your Honor, 

19 and I don't want to say that I'm abandoning the proposition 

20 that Mr. Adelson's statement was absolutely privileged, but if 

21 you look at that statement in the context it was made, you 

22 can't conclude, I suggest, can't reasonably conclude other 

23 than Mr. Adelson was expressing his God-given and legally 

24 supported opinion that Mr. Jacobs was simply dead wrong in 

25 accusing him of the misconduct and criminal offenses that led 
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1 to his termination as an employee in Macau. 

2 On that basis, Your Honor, I ask you to terminate 

3 this claim in this litigation and let this case move on 

4 without the distraction of an altogether unnecessary and 

5 spiteful claim of defamation that was, as I said in our 

6 initial motion, not only invited, but was expected, and it 

7 exemplifies, I think, the adage that we closed with, and that 

8 is lawyers should be careful, lawyers speaking for parties 

9 should be careful what they ask for in their pleadings, 

10 because they may just get it. And in this case they did, and 

11 what they got is absolutely privileged, and it is not 

12 actionable. Thank you. 

13 THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Morris. 

14 Ms. Glaser, as to the defamation claim which is a 

15 part of your motion would you like to add anything in addition 

16 to what Mr. Morris told us? 

17 

18 

MS. GLASER: I would not at this time, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Peek, since you have a separate 

19 issue on this same basis --

20 MR. PEEK: Your Honor, I would not. 

21 

22 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. PEEK: I wish Mr. Urga were here to see this so 

23 that he'd know I didn't speak. 

24 THE COURT: Well, we'll make a note. 

25 MR. PEEK: Thank you. 

13 

0013



• • 
1 THE COURT: Perhaps we'll have the transcript made 

2 and send it around. 

3 Mr. Campbell. Mr. Campbell, I again want to thank 

4 you for the cases that your office delivered while I was 

5 sitting in my car. With all my child's activity last night it 

6 made it a lot easier to read some of the cases. 

7 forgotten what they said. 

8 MR. CAMPBELL: All right, Your Honor. 

I had 

I'm pleased 

9 to do so. Get myself organized here, if I could just a 

10 moment, Your Honor. 

11 I'd like to begin today, Your Honor, by hopefully 

12 clarifying the positions of the parties. Now, in the reply 

13 that Mr. Morris filed he said that our opposition was 

14 disjointed and scattergunned and somewhat confusing. I do not 

15 believe that to be the case. In fact, I believe that what Mr. 

16 Adelson has filed is very disjointed and scattergunned and 

17 confuses a lot of issues, and I'd like to try to put those to 

18 rest. 

19 What we're talking about in this particular case are 

20 three different things, essentially. Number one, we're 

21 talking about an absolute privilege; number two, we are then 

22 talking about conditional privileges; and number three is part 

23 of number two, we're talking about reply and opinion. 

24 But let us begin before we address any of that with 

25 what we're here on. We're here on a 12(b) (5). Now, there's 
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1 been an awful lot of fugitive documents filed and, quite 

2 frankly, extrajudicial and fugitive statements that have been 

3 made by Mr. Morris. He's a fine advocate, but he knows as 

4 well as I do this is neither the time nor the place. We're 

5 dealing here with the pleadings. Accordingly, everything that 

6 he attached and is relying upon in such statements as somehow, 

7 I think he said in his reply, that Mr. Jacobs spoke to the 

8 press after this case was last in court and that Mr. Jacobs 

9 invited all of the press in are absolutely not only false, but 

10 they're simply, even if they were true, not a part of these 

11 proceedings. 

12 THE COURT: And they don't make a difference to me 

13 in my consideration of the determination of the privilege. 

14 MR. CAMPBELL: No. I appreciate it, and I'll move 

15 off that point. 

16 THE COURT: Now, in a minute I'll get to that with 

17 Ms. Glaser on her request for judicial notice, but I'm not 

18 there yet on that motion. 

19 MR. CAMPBELL: Your Honor, we are also not dealing 

20 with any sort of admission here, as Mr. Adelson has claimed in 

21 his reply brief, to the effect that Mr. Jacobs had admitted 

22 that the defamatory statements made were made during quote, 

23 "during the course of this judicial proceeding." We do not 

24 admit that. In fact, it is just the opposite contention that 

25 Jacobs advances. Jacobs advances the contention that it was 
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1 an extrajudicial statement that we are dealing here with and 

2 that was completely and totally unprivileged in all regards. 

3 And we also know, Your Honor, that there's not a single case 

4 that is cited, including the Witherspoon case that was cited 

5 -- and I'll deal with that because it did apply to an absolute 

6 privilege -- or didn't apply to the issue of malice, rather --

7 that was decided at a 12(b) (5) stage. 

8 So let me begin. At the time that Mr. Adelson 

9 issued this press release he had issued this press release to 

10 the Wall Street Journal, and what he said in the press release 

11 was that my client was a liar, essentially, and that he was 

12 fired for cause. 

13 Now, let's deal first with respect to whether or not 

14 that was absolutely privileged. I agree with Mr. Morris. Mr. 

15 Morris is correct. When we are dealing in the realm of 

16 absolute privileges it makes no difference if malicious intent 

17 was part of that, it makes no difference if ill will was part 

18 of that. I agree with him with respect to absolute privilege. 

19 But the cases that we cited with respect to issues of ill will 

20 and malice and how that must be decided by the jury related 

21 and were cited by the court, and I'll point them out, on 

22 conditional privilege, not on absolute privilege. Mr. Morris 

23 is confused, and I hope to basically take him through the --

24 and the Court to show how that distinction is made. 

25 THE COURT: But at this stage, Mr. Campbell, isn't 
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1 the legal determination as to whether the absolute privilege 

2 exists really one the Court needs to make under the dictates 

3 the Nevada Supreme Court gave us in the Clark County School 

4 District versus Virtual Education Software, Inc. or VESI case? 

5 MR. CAMPBELL: No, Your Honor. We don't believe so. 

6 And we'll tell you why. We believe first of all that we're 

7 entitled to a full exploration of exactly what was done here. 

8 All we know is that there was apparently some sort of a press 

9 release. We get to find out the following and explore the 

10 following. We get to find out exactly who prepared it, we get 

11 to find out how many drafts of it were there, we get to find 

12 out what preceded it,a and what it and what it was in reply 

13 to. We also get to find out whether or not anything 

14 supplementary was distributed pursuant to it. As we stated, 

15 Your Honor, in our pleadings, we believe and we forecast we're 

16 going to be able this libel was enhanced by Mr. Adelson at the 

17 end -- at the -- what was it, I'll get the precise term so 

18 it's in the record and very clear -- at the JP Morgan Gaming 

19 Seminar when he engaged this --

20 THE COURT: Well, but let me stop you. 

21 MR. CAMPBELL: ad homily attack. And with --

22 THE COURT: In your fifth amended complaint, Mr. 

23 Campbell, the only statement that you are basing your pleading 

24 on as being defamatory is the statement that was made to the 

25 Wall Street Journal, and you've quoted it. 
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1 MR. CAMPBELL: Yes. 

2 THE COURT: And we all agree, I guess, that this 

3 statement was made shortly following a very long hearing that 

4 we had that day, the day before you filed the complaint. 

5 MR. CAMPBELL: Correct, Your Honor. Yes, Your 

6 Honor. 

7 THE COURT: And that's the only statement that 

8 you've included in this cause of action. 

9 MR. CAMPBELL: That is -- that is true. And the 

10 reason for that, Your Honor, is that after we filed our 

11 complaint is when Mr. Adelson went out and made all sorts of 

12 additional statements. 

13 THE COURT: Well, but that's not what's in this. 

14 MR. CAMPBELL: And you're exactly right. But you're 

15 asking whether or not essentially you're limited at this stage 

16 of the proceedings. And we don't think so, because that's one 

17 of the considerations that you make, is there additional 

18 discovery that will help illuminate all of this. And our 

19 answer to that is yes, there is. 

20 Number two, with respect to the VESI case what you 

21 were dealing with there was a very, very modest exchange that 

22 was -- and the Witherspoon case, that was a very modest 

23 exchange that was between two potential litigants in the form 

24 of letters going back and forth, and then with respect to 

25 Witherspoon there was an absolute privilege for letters that 
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1 were written by in that case hotel HR directors to the 

2 Department of Employment Security detailing why this person 

3 was fired, we fired this person because this person was 

4 stealing at a blackjack or a craps game. 

5 THE COURT: And why they didn't want him to get 

6 unemployment benefits. 

7 MR. CAMPBELL: That's exactly right. And there's a 

8 specific privilege for that. There's a statute that says that 

9 is absolutely, totally, and completely privileged. 

10 But that's not what we have here, Your Honor, not at 

11 all what we have here. What we have here is something far 

12 different. Now, what I'd like to do, Your Honor, today is 

13 address the issue of absolute privilege with the two principal 

14 cases that were cited by the defendants and the two principal 

15 cases that were cited by us. 

16 Let's deal first with Rothman. This is precisely 

17 what Sands China placed in their brief and what they said was 

18 the applicable standard. They said that the absolute 

19 privilege has been recognized in other jurisdictions. 

20 THE COURT: But it doesn't really matter what they 

21 say comes from other jurisdictions, because I have Nevada 

22 authority that is very clearly on point on this issue. So, I 

23 mean, I don't have that often, but I have that today. 

24 MR. CAMPBELL: Tell me what it is. I'm happy to 

25 address it, Your Honor. 
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1 THE COURT: It's the Clark County-Virtual Education 

2 Software, Inc. case. 

3 MR. CAMPBELL: But, Your Honor, what that deals 

4 with is that's just an exchange of letters to a very discrete 

5 group of people that were involved 

6 THE COURT: Correct. 

7 MR. CAMPBELL: -- or potentially involved in 

8 litigation. That is not a situation where a complaint has 

9 been filed and then they go out and make extrajudicial 

10 statements about that. In fact, all of the caselaw, all of 

11 it, says that if you do that that it takes it completely out 

12 of the realm. 

13 Look, for example, at the Rothman case, and this is 

14 the very point I wanted to make. In the Rothman case they 

15 said, lookit, if you file a complaint or whatever it is in a 

16 court of law, that is absolutely, totally, and completely 

17 privileged, but if you then go out and repeat the same 

18 allegations in an extrajudicial statement, you're on your own. 

19 THE COURT: Not according to the Nevada Supreme 

20 Court in this VESI case, because this was pre litigation. 

21 MR. CAMPBELL: Your Honor, that's fine if it's pre 

22 litigation. But the point of it is -- what VESI is relying on 

23 and all these cases are relying upon is the Restatement. And 

24 the Restatement basically says, lookit, if it's incidental to 

25 impending, that's also covered. But what they're talking 
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1 about is attorneys engaging in this essentially. They extend 

2 it to the actual parties there because it's extremely limited. 

3 That's not what we have here, Your Honor. We have 

4 something completely different. And every single case that 

5 has been cited to the Court on this in which the individual 

6 made extrajudicial statements, every single one, including the 

7 Oprah Winfrey case which was decided by the Seventh Circuit 

8 Court of Appeals and is directly on point, she said after the 

9 complaint was filed, it's a pack of lies and he's a liar and 

10 I'm going to fight it and I'm not paying him a penny. The 

11 Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals said, that is not privileged, 

12 that is absolutely subject to a cause of action and it should 

13 not have been dismissed by the court. 

14 It's exactly the situation that we have here, 

15 precisely the situation we have here. The situation that we 

16 have here is not lawyers or the principals exchanging letters 

17 in a very modest, discrete, confined way. What you have here 

18 is something far different, Mr. Adelson going to an award-

19 winning journalist from the Wall Street Journal, saying that 

20 my client is a liar and that he was fired for cause. And both 

21 of those, both of those have been held by the court -- those 

22 claims of liar and fired for cause, both of them have been 

23 held to be defamatory, absolutely defamatory. 

24 And let me raise something with respect to that 

25 particular issue, all right. So we don't have this very, very 
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1 confined -- this very, very confined setting. They cited a 

2 case in the reply, and I think it was Mr. Morris. But Mr. 

3 Peek also made this statement, and the statement was, you 

4 haven't cited any case which says that this reply that's being 

5 made to a statement that's been made in a pleading has to be 

6 exactly the same. In other words, our position is, wait a 

7 second, you weren't a lawyer, Mr. Adelson, you weren't a party 

8 in this case at that point personally, you weren't even a 

9 witness in the case. Protection occurs in and only in the 

10 courtroom or the quasi judicial proceeding. That is the 

11 teaching of Rothman and Green Acres. That's exactly what it 

12 is. That's exactly what the law holds. 

13 So when he goes outside the courtroom and he says, 

14 I'm just replying, the courts say, nonsense, that's not at all 

15 what you're doing, Mr. Adelson, not at all what you're doing. 

16 When you're dealing with discrete and conditionally 

17 privileged, conditionally privileged defense --

18 THE COURT: I understand the difference between the 

19 privilege issues. 

20 MR. CAMPBELL: Okay. When you're dealing with the 

21 conditional privilege of reply it has to be in the same forum. 

22 It has to be in the same forum. And you don't have to believe 

23 me for this. Look at -- look at this case that they cited, 

24 this Foretich case. Here it is. It's at the bottom of --

25 Foretich is 37 F. 3d 1541. At the bottom of the page 1563 it 
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1 says, "The counterattack must be made primarily in the forum 

2 selected by the original attacker." I don't quibble with the 

3 suggestion that if my client went out and was talking to Ms. 

4 Berzon outside the courtroom and saying these things that Mr. 

5 Adelson would have been entitled to say, no, I disagree, 

6 that's a lie. He would have been entitled to do that if Mr. 

7 -- if that was what Mr. Jacobs did. Mr. Jacobs didn't do 

8 that. Mr. Jacobs did not do that. Mr. Jacobs hasn't said 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

anything to the press other than they asked him what he 

thought, he said he had no comment, that he was looking 

forward to his trial. Nothing else, okay. 

What they're saying is 1 lookit, he put this in a 

publicly filed complaint and he went overboard. Mr. Morris 

right. This isn't my first rodeo on retaliatory discharge. 

On retaliatory discharge 

THE COURT: We all knew that Mr. Campbell. 

MR. CAMPBELL: I beg your --

is 

16 

17 

18 

19 

THE COURT: We all knew it wasn't your first rodeo. 

MR. CAMPBELL: But on retaliatory discharge. As the 

20 Court knows, I represent a lot of executives, there•ve been a 

21 lot of decisions that have dealt with retaliatory discharge. 

22 I know what those decisions are, and there's an awful lot of 

23 decisions dealing with when you're dealing with retaliatory 

24 discharge in the public policy setting. When you're saying, I 

25 was fired as retaliatory discharge, in the public policy 
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1 setting you must plead with particularity. If we didn't put 

2 everything down in there, Mr. Morris, being the very fine 

3 lawyer that he is, would be storming in here saying, dismiss 

4 this. And I can give you multiple cites to cases on that, 

5 because I've had to deal with him in other cases where they 

6 said I didn't plead with particularity. 

7 So let's also deal now and continuing on with the 

8 absolute privilege, with exactly what the holding of Clemens 

9 was, the precise same factual setting. What the court said 

10 there is with respect to the allegation that was made by 

11 Clemens and Mr. Hardin, who, incidentally, used to be Mr. 

12 Adelson's lawyer in another case that we had against him, Mr. 

13 Hardin called Mr. Clemens's trainer, McNamee, a liar. Mr. 

14 Clemens also went on "60 Minutes" and said, it's all lies, 

15 he's lying. And the court said, too bad, yes, you had this 

16 does underway, yes indeed there had been appearances before 

17 Congress, doesn't make a difference, that's not where this 

18 took place, you went out of your way to impugn him and he's 

19 entitled to sue you for it. And it's a long and exhaustive 

20 opinion, and I won't go all the way there. 

21 But if you read the Green Acres case, a case cited 

22 by them, which in fact was -- the original case cite by them 

23 was reversed, and there's no other way of putting it kindly, 

24 that case was reversed and they said just the opposite of what 

25 Mr. Adelson said the case stood for. If you look at Rothman, 
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1 a case cited by Sands China as controlling, okay, that, too, 

2 is exactly the opposite. And they make the very point in 

3 there, lookit, if you're talking to the press, too bad, all 

4 bets are off. 

5 Now, let me -- let me cite one thing, if I could, 

6 Your Honor, on that point before I move to conditional 

7 privileges. In Rothman, "An analysis of the policies --" and 

8 this is at -- this is at 1146. "An analysis of the policies 

9 which underline the litigation privilege compels our 

10 conclusion that similarity or even identity of subject matter 

11 is not connection or logical relation between litigation and 

12 communication, which is alone sufficient to trigger the 

13 litigation privilege." It goes on to say, "The litigation 

14 privilege exists so that persons who have been harmed or have 

15 other grievances calling for redress through the judicial 

16 process can and will use the judicial process, the courts, 

17 rather than self help," as Mr. Adelson did, "to obtain relief. 

18 The privilege thus affords its extraordinary protection to the 

19 uninhibited airing, discussion, and resolution of disputes," 

20 and these words are in bold italics of the court, "and only in 

21 judicial or quasi judicial arenas." Public mud slinging, 

22 while a less physically destructive form of self help than a 

23 public brawl, is nevertheless one of the kinds of unregulated 

24 and harmful feuding that the courts and their process exist to 

25 prevent. It would be counterproductive to afford it the same 
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1 protections.'' 

2 Accordingly, when an individual goes out, the court 

3 held, you are on your own, you take the risk that you're going 

4 to be sued for those statement. 

5 Now, moving to the issue of conditional privilege, 

6 in speaking about conditional privileges, Your Honor, you'll 

7 see that and I'll make it fast on this point -- you'll see 

8 it's all fact driven and that universally the courts --

9 THE COURT: I agree. Conditional privilege is fact 

10 driven. 

11 MR. CAMPBELL: It's all fact driven. So, you know, 

12 I'm really not going to get into all that. But there's one 

13 thing that has been cited in the Del Papa case, it's actually 

14 State versus --

15 THE COURT: And that's the Anzalone case. 

16 MR. CAMPBELL: Yeah. It's State versus Eighth 

17 Judicial District Court. 

18 THE COURT: It's the Attorney General firing their 

19 investigator case. 

20 MR. CAMPBELL: Yeah. It's Frankie Sue Del Papa and 

21 one of her investigators, a guy by the name of Anzalone. And 

22 in Mr. Adelson's reply he states as follows. He -- and we'll 

23 get to this with respect to the issue of opinion, that this 

24 was just opinion. They've mixed apples and oranges there. 

25 There were multiple defendants in that case, multiple 
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1 defendants. It was Frankie Sue Del Papa, it was two of her 

2 senior deputies, and it was another investigator. And Mr. 

3 Adelson in his reply says that in State versus Eighth Judicial 

4 District Court there the court, quote, "issued a finding that 

5 a statement which reflected negatively on plaintiff's 

6 character, professional integrity, and honesty," end quote, 

7 was a statement of opinion. That is not what the court said 

8 there. He said that in his reply at page 9, lines 7 to 8. 

9 That is wholly incorrect. 

10 If you look at the case, specifically 42 P.3d at 

11 page 240, what they're talking about is yet another defendant. 

12 It was J. T. Healy who was the investigator. And the court is 

13 grappling with the claim on the investigator, not Ms. Del 

14 Papa. And what they say there is that, "Anzalone says that 

15 his -- the statement by Healy reflected negatively on the 

16 plaintiff's character, professional integrity, and honesty. 

17 That was Anzalone's claim. That's not what the court said. 

18 And parenthetically, what the statement that Healy said was, I 

19 think the investigation that Anzalone conducted was crappy. 

20 And the court rightly said, that's an opinion, that's entirely 

21 absolutely protected, that's an opinion. So their citation in 

22 that regard is wrong. 

23 Now, they also -- and we've also talked about the 

24 Lubin case in both of our pleadings. And, as Her Honor 

25 pointed out, the falsity of the statements in question in 
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1 Lubin were not subject to dismissal at the stage of 12(b) (5). 

2 So, Your Honor, I'm not going to go any further if that's the 

3 Court's position, as well, and the Court is abiding by it. 

4 They also said something else. "A statement that is 

5 capable of defamatory construction is not actionable if the 

6 communication is privileged. We observe, however, that 

7 privileges are defenses to a defamation claim and therefore 

8 the defendant has the initial burden of properly alleging the 

9 privilege and then proving the allegations at trial." 

10 Now, there has also been a schizophrenia of sorts 

11 between what they're claiming -- and this is even more reason 

12 why we want to take some depositions in this case. Mr. Morris 

13 says this press release that was issued by Sheldon Adelson, 

14 the chairman of the board of Las Vegas Sands corporation, was 

15 issued because --

16 

17 Judge. 

18 

MR. PEEK: Could you direct your comments to the 

MR. CAMPBELL: -- what had been said had been put in 

19 a pleading and Mr. Adelson was responding to it. Mr. Peek 

20 says something completely different. 

21 MR. PEEK: Address your remarks to her, please. 

22 MR. CAMPBELL: I am addressing them -- Mr. Peek says 

23 something completely different. Mr. Peek says --

24 THE COURT: Don't point at -- don't point at Mr. 

25 Peek. It makes him get riled up, and then we have trouble. 
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MR. CAMPBELL: I don't want to get him emotional. 

Mr. Peek says something different. He says the 

3 reason, okay, that this was done was something far different. 

4 And he says, you know, what we're dealing here with is a 

5 republication of what was said in the courtroom by Ms. Glaser, 

6 that's what Mr. Adelson was doing, he was republishing and 

7 that's privileged. Well, Mr. Peek, respectfully, has cited 

8 something that's not privileged, there's no such thing as 

9 republication privilege. I think what he's trying to say is 

10 that there it was a fair report privilege. But he's never 

11 pled that. He raises that for the first time in his reply. 

12 And, by the way, it doesn't apply in this particular setting, 

13 because Mr. Adelson wasn't saying, lookit, you know, I'm 

14 dealing here with a specific event that took place in court 

15 and I'm commenting on it and that's what I'm doing here. He 

16 doesn't say any of that. So none of that even applies. 

17 But it's interesting thaf Las Vegas Sands is saying 

18 one thing and Mr. Adelson is saying something exactly the 

19 opposite. And Mr. Adelson, no matter how they try to paint 

20 this, has made this an extrajudicial statement in response 

21 supposedly to things that were happening in a courtroom. 

22 Every single case that has been cited says that that is not 

23 privileged. 

24 Now, to sum up, Your Honor, I'd like to make a few 

25 observations. They've cited a case and relied upon it heavily 
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1 that was reversed. They then cited another case, Rothman, for 

2 a proposition of law that was not the proposition of law for 

3 which it stood. It stood for just the opposite. They also 

4 said that we didn't properly plead because we didn't put in 

5 our pleading that the statement was unprivileged. We did in 

6 fact say exactly that. There's a whole paragraph where we 

7 said this statement by Mr. Adelson was unprivileged, and we 

8 cited it to the Court. 

9 right there. 

So, you know, that's three strikes 

10 And with respect to this commentary that this is 

11 merely ornamental, this claim of defamation is merely 

12 ornamental, it is not merely ornamental. It's his life. He's 

13 an executive who has been harmed as being fired for cause. 

14 Mr. Adelson went out and said, I fired him for cause and 

15 there's lots of reasons for that. We've cited cases that have 

16 held just that exact statement, there are reasons that we did 

17 this, as saying that's defamatory, in and of itself, that's 

18 defamatory, and he's a liar, we have cited case after case 

19 after case, including the Oprah Winfrey and the Clemens case 

20 that says the same thing. The Pease case, all of these cases, 

21 when you say that extrajudicially, that is not privileged. 

22 And while it's not my first rodeo on these issues, 

23 neither is it Mr. Adelson's first rodeo when it comes to 

24 defamation. Mr. Adelson knows exactly what he's doing and 

25 what he thinks he can get away with. He can't get away with 
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1 what he did here. When he -- and there's a demonstration of 

2 it. He thinks he knows, but he doesn't know. Mr. Adelson has 

3 had a long and rich and sordid history of suing individuals 

4 for defamation in this district, and you can take judicial 

5 notice of that fact. 

6 

7 

THE COURT: I'm not going to, though. 

MR. CAMPBELL: But that's -- but this is an issue 

8 that's certainly, that's certainly, Your Honor, going to be 

9 going to be something that you should take notice of, 

10 particularly when we're dealing with an individual here that 

11 he's saying one thing, the counsels are saying another thing, 

12 and he's engaged in this process extrajudicially. So our 

13 point is this, Your Honor. Our point is that Mr. Adelson went 

14 ahead and made these statements to the Wall Street Journal, 

15 and they weren't a reply to anything. Nothing. The proper 

16 way to reply to what is in a complaint -- if that's the reason 

17 he did it, the proper way to reply to a complaint is with an 

18 answer. And if he didn't like the complaint because it was 

19 pled with particularity as is required by the courts, too bad. 

20 Then he shouldn't have fired him, and he shouldn't have 

21 engaged in the illegal conduct which resulted in my client 

22 being forced to say that he wouldn't do it. 

23 So that's the bottom line in the case, Your Honor. 

24 I'm happy to address any other issues that the Court may 

25 believe are germane at this point. But, Your Honor, this is 
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1 something that should certainly all be flushed out in 

2 depositions and discovery, because there's a lot more here 

3 than meets the eye. 

4 THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Campbell. 

5 Paragraph 62 of the amended complaint is the basis 

6 for the fifth cause of action which cites to only one 

7 statement alleged to be defamatory, the statement we've been 

8 speaking about to the Wall Street Journal. The circumstances 

9 of that statement made by Mr. Adelson are not one in which 

10 there are factual issues. As I have indicated, there is a 

11 single statement, which leads the Court to believe that this 

12 particular statement is absolutely privileged as it relates to 

13 the litigation, and under the decision made by the Nevada 

14 Supreme Court in Clark County School District versus Virtual 

15 Education Software, Inc., which we've referred to today on the 

16 record as VESI, would provide for the Court making a legal 

17 determination as to the application of the privilege, and for 

18 purposes of this single statement that has been briefed today 

19 the Court grants the motion to dismiss. 

20 Anybody want this certified? 

21 MR. WILLIAMS: We would, Your Honor. 

22 THE COURT: Mr. Morris, any objection to 54(b) 

23 certification in the -- getting you out of the case? 

24 MR. MORRIS: I think it's completely unnecessary. 

25 This is a motion to dismiss. 
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1 THE COURT: But your guy's now all gone. Mr. 

2 Adelson as a party is totally out of this case as an 

3 individual, because that's the only claim for relief he was 

4 in. 

5 MR. MORRIS: And you've dismissed -- you've 

6 dismissed this fifth claim. 

7 THE COURT: As to all of you and as to Mr. Adelson 

8 only it would appear appropriate for me to certify it --

9 

10 

11 

12 to that. 

13 

14 

15 

16 totally 

17 

18 

19 

MR. PEEK: Oh. Okay. 

THE COURT: even under the new 54(b) standard. 

MR. MORRIS: You can. You can. I have no objection 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. PEEK: So this is just as to Mr. Adelson? 

THE COURT: Well, he's the only party who's been 

resolved. 

MS. GLASER: Correct. 

MR. PEEK: Correct. 

THE COURT: All the rest of you are stuck with me 

20 for a while. 

21 MR. PEEK: I just want to make sure, because it's 

22 also been dismissed as to Ms. Glaser's --

23 THE COURT: Well, but as to Mr. Adelson it appears 

24 clearly appropriate for 54(b) certification 

25 MR. MORRIS: Yes, Your Honor. 
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1 THE COURT: -- which will get the issue you want in 

2 front of the Nevada Supreme Court. If they decide to 

3 entertain it, that's a different issue. 

4 All right. If I can go to the rest of the motion to 

5 dismiss that Ms. Glaser filed, and if I could first go to the 

6 request for judicial notice. I typically do not take judicial 

7 notice of anything that is not already in this court or 

8 another court's file. For that reason I am going to decline 

9 to take judicial notice of Exhibit H of your proposed 

10 documents, which is a newspaper article. The others were 

11 previously attached as exhibits to other pleadings or are 

12 pleadings or transcripts themselves, so they're fair game. 

13 MS. GLASER: Thank you, Your Honor. I will note, 

14 and it's minor, there was no objection to the request for 

15 judicial notice. But I take -- I heard Your Honor very 

16 clearly. 

17 

18 

THE COURT: I have paranoia about it. 

MS. GLASER: Your Honor, what I did was and I 

19 have extra copies, small copies if it -- because I'm not sure 

20 Your Honor can read this. 

21 THE COURT: I can read it, but, if you'd like, 

22 please give a copy to everybody. I'll mark it as a Court's 

23 exhibit. If anybody feels like they need to move to see the 

24 big boards, please feel free to do so, unless, of course, 

25 you're in the gallery, in which case you're stuck. 
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1 MS. GLASER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

2 THE COURT: Do you want me to mark it as a Court's 

3 exhibit? 

4 MS. GLASER: I do, Your Honor. 

5 THE COURT: If you have an extra copy, I will. Is 

6 it a two-page, or one page? 

7 MS. GLASER: It's two pages, Your Honor. This is 

8 the first, and there's a second. 

9 THE COURT: Mark those as Court's Exhibit 1 and 2 . 

10 The longer one is 1, the shorter one is 2. 

Okay. You may proceed. 11 

12 MS. GLASER: Okay. Your Honor, thank you. And let 

13 me address this, because this is the motion to dismiss the 

14 second claim for breach of contract against Sands China, and 

15 we believe it should be granted, and we think there's plenty 

16 of authority, both factual in terms of what the Court can take 

17 judicial notice of and what the complaint says and what has 

18 been acknowledged by all the parties, including plaintiff. 

19 Let me start. The plain and unambiguous language of 

20 the only contract Mr. Jacobs alleges is with Sands China, 

21 Limited, is the stock option grant letter. I've referred to 

22 it as SOGL. And it provides that unvested options are 

23 extinguished upon termination for any reason, cause, no cause. 

24 And that's unequivocal and unambiguous. 

25 Now, what do I have for that? I have the SOGL, 
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1 appendix to subsection 2.1(2) (i). Quote, "If the grantee's 

2 employment with the company and its subsidiaries is terminated 

3 for any reason, including for cause, the unvested portion of 

4 the option shall expire on the date of termination." There is 

5 -- it's undisputed, it's alleged by plaintiff that he was 

6 terminated -- Mr. Jacobs was terminated in July of 2010 and no 

7 options by the terms of this agreement had vested under 

8 anybody's theory, and everyone acknowledges that. He is suing 

9 separately in the terms sheet for the options that are listed 

10 there. He got some of them under the terms sheet. He 

11 acknowledges that. And he says, you know what, there were 

12 250,000 more options in the terms sheet with Las Vegas Sands 

13 that need to be moved up so I can exercise those 250,000 

14 options. So it's completely disingenuous to suggest, oh, wait 

15 a minute, the terms sheet was referring to those -- you know, 

16 they're going to be converted when there was an IPO. He's 

17 claiming both all of the options under the terms sheet from 

18 Las Vegas Sands and two and a half million options from China, 

19 Sands China, in a completely separate document that comes 

20 literally months, almost a year after the terms sheet that he 

21 says is enforceable against Las Vegas Sands. 

22 Now, there is no reference, of course, to the terms 

23 sheet in the SOGL. And that's Exhibit B to the request for 

24 judicial notice, Your Honor. Then we go to another port of 

25 authority, when a single transaction is evidenced by multiple 
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1 writings, which is what his contention is, seems to be his 

2 argument. Hong Kong courts -- and I -- you know, Your Honor, 

3 we sort of warned you about this before. 

4 THE COURT: It's not my first case where we've had 

5 experts on foreign law have to come in. Mr. Peek knows how to 

6 do it. 

7 MS. GLASER: And we did provide Your Honor copies of 

8 everything we relied on, and, of course, to the other side. 

9 Hong Kong courts will interpret those documents consistently 

10 unless this would result in a breach of the terms of the 

11 documents. And that's the HSH Nord Bank case that we cited, 

12 2009 Hong Kong case. 

13 Lastly on this point, in Nevada the interpretation 

14 and construction of contractual terms is a question of law 

15 that can be and, based on the law as we understand it, should 

16 be determined by the Court at a motion to dismiss stage. 

17 Now, the Court in our view is both entitled and 

18 required to interpret claim and unambiguous language of the 

19 alleged agreement at this stage. The plain -- our second 

20 point, the plain and unambiguous language of the SOGL requires 

21 Jacobs to sign and return it within 28 days. And you say to 

22 yourself, oh, come on, what's the big deal. Well, I'll tell 

23 you what the big deal is. The first amended complaint doesn't 

24 and cannot allege that he did so, and until that offer is 

25 accepted it may be rescinded at any time. How do we know 
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1 that? We gave you authority for that, Your Honor, Hong Kong 

2 authority, which is also Hong Kong authority that in itself is 

3 clear and unambiguous. If you don't accept within 28 days, 

4 you are deemed to have declined it. And I'm going to just 

5 porch the language here. Subsection (5), if you wish to 

6 accept this offer of the option, you're supposed to sign it, 

7 pay a dollar -- we're not focusing on the dollar, Your Honor 

8 -- to a specific individual of the company within 28 days of 

9 the date, and if you don't receive that acceptance within 

10 28 days, it's gone. And the language is clear and 

11 unambiguous. 

12 Now, if it's not enough, in their opposition to Las 

13 Vegas Sands's motion to add an indispensable party that we 

14 were talking about that hearing a few minutes ago, Your Honor, 

15 in another context, that was on March 15, 2011. And if you go 

16 if Your Honor has a chance to go to pages 26 to 37 of the 

17 transcript, which we were able to order, over and over and 

18 over again that terms sheet Mr. Campbell describes is with Las 

19 Vegas Sands. He says it over and over and over again. I 

20 won't even go to something which arguably is extrajudicial. 

21 When Mr. Campbell first made his claim on September 24, 2010, 

22 to Las Vegas Sands he actually says in that letter, that claim 

23 his deal, the terms sheet is -- again, not only does he say it 

24 in the complaint, not only does he say it in his initial 

25 disclosures which are before the Court, not only does he say 
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1 it in this court on March 15, when he starts this action he 

2 acknowledges, my fight, my terms sheet is with Las Vegas 

3 Sands. He does not say Sands China. He couldn't. Sands 

4 China hadn't even gone public by then. Sands China wasn't in 

5 existence then. 

6 Let me go to my next point, if I might, Your Honor. 

7 And that's the second board. There are arguments that have 

8 been raised by the other side, and I wanted to address those 

9 directly. Which is slightly smaller print. I hope the Court 

10 can still see it. 

11 Mr. Jacobs has several arguments. He argues that 

12 the terms sheet governs the rights and obligations of SCL 

13 under stock option agreement. Well, you say to yourself, wait 

14 a minute, there isn't even a reference to the terms sheet in 

15 the stock option grant letter. Sands China is not a party to 

16 the terms sheet. Everybody acknowledges that. And it's only 

17 a party to the stock option agreement. The stock option grant 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

letter again contains no language that adopts or incorporates 

any provisions of the terms sheet. Mr. Jacobs argues that his 

allegation -- and this is a little odd, but I think it's just 

an apples and oranges confusion. He argues in his allegation 

that he performed all the contractual obligations under the 

SOGL that's in paragraph 46 of the first amended complaint 

24 -- alleges acceptance. Respectfully, Your Honor, so what? 

25 This isn't -- this isn't anything other -- what he alleges is, 
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1 I performed everything I was supposed to perform except what I 

2 was prevented from performing. Not an unusual provision. The 

3 problem is this goes to contract formation. This does not go 

4 to whether or not he performed everything he was supposed to 

5 perform under the contract and therefore I breached. We're 

6 not there. We never get to that step. We never get over this 

7 big bass canyon called offer and acceptance whether there's a 

8 contract or not. 

9 Now, what we do is we tell you in I think no 

10 uncertain terms that we cite to Hong Kong law which stands for 

11 the propositions we articulated in our briefs. The terms 

12 sheet -- and I -- to say it to you once again, the terms sheet 

13 has 500,000 options it references, some of which he 

14 acknowledges he already received. They were not converted at 

15 the time of the IPO. Everybody concedes that. He's suing for 

16 all the options in the terms sheet plus and separately two and 

17 a half million options under the SOGL. 

18 Now, he cites to paragraph 8.1, if I might, of the 

19 -- it's Exhibit B to your -- to the request for judicial 

20 notice. 8.1 says, "The grant of options and these terms and 

21 conditions shall not form part of any contract of employment 

22 between the Company or any subsidiary and any employee and the 

23 rights and obligations of any employee under the terms of this 

24 office or employment shall not be affected thereby." 

25 Your Honor, the first sentence of 8.1 provides that 
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1 the stock option grant letter will not affect the terms of any 

2 contract of employment, quote, "between the Company," capital 

3 C, "or any subsidiary and any employee." The company is 

4 defined in the same document in the notice of exercise portion 

5 of the stock option grant letter as Sands China. By its terms 

6 8.1 refers only to employment agreements with Sands China and 

7 subsidiaries of Sands China. It goes without saying that Las 

8 Vegas Sands is not a subsidiary of Sands China. Contrary to 

9 what Mr. Jacobs suggests, therefore, the terms sheet between 

10 Jacobs and Las Vegas Sands is not referenced, and you can't 

11 make up a phony argument to suggest it is in 8.1. 

12 At paragraph 47 of the first amended complaint 

13 that's the only reference to any contract breached by Sands 

14 China, and that's a reference to the stock option grant 

15 letter. In short, the first amended complaint does not allege 

16 any other contract, including any employment agreement, 

17 between Mr. Jacobs and Sands China. 

18 Now, Mr. Jacobs says -- talked about how he 

19 performed all the contractual obligations under the SOGL. 

20 Again I say to you he confuses, and I say it respectfully, 

21 acceptance with performance. Without acceptance there is no 

22 contract. 

23 Now, we then cite to you an enforceable contract 

24 must include a valid offer and acceptance. We cite to you 

25 Chitty on Contracts, which is the thirtieth edition, 2008. 
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1 And the acceptance must be in writing, and we cite to you the 

2 Yates Building case, which is again a 1976 case under Hong 

3 Kong law. And we also cite to you the stock option grant 

4 letter subsection (5), which requires it to be in writing. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Pursuant to Hong Kong law an offer may be terminated 

at any time. And that's the Payne versus Kay case. I 

apologize. It is a 1789 case, Your Honor, and I rarely go 

back one century, much less more than one century, to find 

authority. This is the prevailing authority in Hong Kong, and 

10 it's unequivocal. And in that case the facts were actually 

11 somewhat similar. He's essentially alleging, well, wait a 

12 minute, you terminated me before the 28 days was up, how could 

13 I possibly have done anything, how could I possibly have 

14 exercised it, my time wasn't up. And the response is, and 

15 Payne teaches us this, so what, it's an offer that can be 

16 rescinded at any time. That offer has no consideration until 

17 it's accepted. It was never accepted. He acknowledges it 

18 wasn't accepted. 

19 Mr. Jacobs then argues, wait a minute, I was 

20 wrongfully terminated so I'm allowed to seek damages for the 

21 loss of the option to purchase the stock of Sands China. And 

22 I think, and again I say this respectfully, he seems to rely 

23 on a bunch of -- I say irrelevant, and I'm not being flippant, 

24 has nothing to do with this case. Hong Kong law applies 

25 pursuant to the SOGL. Its terms state SOGL, Hong Kong law 
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1 applies. 

2 The irrelevant American cases on which Jacobs 

3 relies, however, if you want to look at American law, each 

4 provide that an employment contract with the entity granting 

5 the option is a prerequisite for this argument. In other 

6 words, most of those -- I think all those cases I can -- I 

7 could even give you some of them, Your Honor. One of them was 

8 a Knox case, another one was a Morschbach case. Morschbach 

9 was particularly interesting. But those cases, and those are 

10 just examples, are cases where you had an employment agreement 

11 that one of the provisions of the employment agreement was 

12 stock options were granted. That's not here. There's no 

13 employment agreement alleged with Sands China. Sands China 

14 does not belong in this lawsuit. The only reason it's here is 

15 because of the stock option grant letter, and that doesn't 

16 belong here, either, Your Honor. There is not any reason not 

17 to dismiss the motion. 

18 Now, I just want to speak for a second about the 

19 Morschbach case. That's a 2002 case, and we cited that to 

20 Your Honor. There the plaintiff was a CEO of a defendant's 

21 subsidiary through a merger, her employment agreement with the 

22 parent. The claim was entitled to -- the claim is he was 

23 entitled to exercise options to purchase the subsidiary's 

24 stock after the merger which caused his wrongful termination. 

25 The court found the subsidiary's stock option agreement in 
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1 plan governed which had express clauses that there was no 

2 right to purchase once the employment ceased. Quote, "The 

3 stock option agreements are stand-alone grants which do not 

4 tie into any other contract." By its terms the stock option 

5 grant letter is a stand-alone agreement that does not tie into 

6 anything else, Your Honor. And the motion to dismiss should 

7 be granted. 

8 I'm glad to answer any other questions the Court may 

9 

10 

11 

12 

have. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

Mr. Williams. 

MR. WILLIAMS: Yes, Your Honor. 

13 We can leave these up, because I think they'll be 

14 helpful. I appreciate the review of basically what's been in 

15 the briefs. And I know Your Honor has read them, so I'll try 

16 to focus my statements on some of the new issues that have 

17 been touched on, or the inaccuracies that have just been 

18 presented to the Court. 

19 First of all, back to the first board, obviously, 

20 Your Honor, we're here on a motion to dismiss. I don't need 

21 to rehash what those standards are. Your Honor's very well 

22 versed in them. And I think the defendants recognize that 

23 we're here on that, so they make this statement to you. They 

24 come down here and they say, "In Nevada interpretation of and 

25 construction of contractual terms is a question of law that 
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1 can be determined in a 12(b) (5) motion to dismiss." And they 

2 cite for that NGA #2 LLC versus Rains. Now, if you read NGA 2 

3 LLC versus Rains, that is a case dealing with summary 

4 judgment. It is not a motion to dismiss at all. And in fact 

5 the Nevada Supreme Court reversed the case because there were 

6 questions of fact that existed. 

7 The same is true -- they cited -- it's not on this 

8 board, but they cited the Angooey [phonetic] case for the same 

9 proposition. Same thing, Your Honor. It, too, was summary 

10 judgment. None of the cases that they have cited to you are 

11 motion to dismiss cases. 

12 So, having gotten that out of the way, let's talk 

13 about this issue of Mr. Jacobs's alleged nonacceptance of the 

14 stock option grant letter. We've alleged in the second cause 

15 of action that there is a contract, that the contract was 

16 breached. Your Honor, I submit for purposes of this motion 

17 that's sufficient. We don't need to come in and present 

18 evidence of how he accepted it, when he accepted it, or any of 

19 that. We don't need to do it at this stage. If we did, 

20 however, Your Honor, I could present to you evidence from 

21 Sands China's public filings wherein they are telling the 

22 public that Mr. Jacobs had 2.5 million stock options in the 

23 company. And what they state is that those options lapsed, 

24 not because he didn't accept them, but because he was 

25 terminated. So they are representing to the public that he 
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1 had the options, in other words, he accepted them. So this 

2 whole issue in my opinion is a red herring, Your Honor. 

3 The Hong Kong cases they cite inaccurately described 

4 by Ms. Glaser, respectively, the Payne case was dealing with 

5 an auction. The bidder bid a certain amount, and the 

6 auctioneer required him to accept certain additional 

7 obligations as part of that bid. He said, I'm not doing it; 

8 and they said, okay, you're not obligated on that bid. 

9 The Dixon v. Dodds case is the other Hong Kong case 

10 they cited, and I think that's the one she was actually 

11 reciting the facts for. And in that case it is true the Hong 

12 Kong court stated that an offer that is held to be open for a 

13 specified period of time can be withdrawn prior to that time 

14 by the offeror. But what would that -- so I take it what 

15 they're saying is that's essentially what we did here with 

16 Jacobs. But, Your Honor, what would that require? That would 

17 require evidence. There's no evidence in the record that they 

18 withdrew this offer. If that's their position, then they're 

19 going to have to prove that. And we're entitled to get into 

20 discovery to go over that. So I think the issue of acceptance 

21 is a non issue. 

22 Now, as I just touched on, the other three cases 

23 that they've cited with respect to contract interpretation 

24 being a question of law, the two Nevada cases were summary 

25 judgment cases reversed on appeal because genuine issues of 
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1 fact existed. The other one was the Morschbach case which Ms. 

2 Glaser referenced at the end of her presentation. That was 

3 cited by them in response to our position that the terms sheet 

4 and the stock option grant letter should be construed 

5 together. And, as the Court knows, we've cited a number of 

6 cases saying that whether two documents are to be construed 

7 together is a question of fact. 

8 In Morschbach the court again, this is summary 

9 judgment, Your Honor. It was not a motion to dismiss. In 

10 Morschbach the court found that the plaintiff's employment 

11 contract and the stock option agreements were stand alone 

12 because the employment agreement never referenced the issue of 

13 stock options at all. And, as Your Honor knows, that is not 

14 what we have here. The terms sheet expressly references stock 

15 options and contemplates that Mr. Jacobs is going to be 

16 getting stock options not just in Las Vegas Sands, but in 

17 Sands China. So we would submit that Morschbach is certainly 

18 distinguishable on that basis. 

19 Now, Your Honor, a couple of other comments that 

20 were made was that Sands China was not in existence at the 

21 time of the terms sheet, didn't go public, and then was -- the 

22 statement was amplified on to say it wasn't in existence. 

23 Your Honor, if you go back to their motion to dismiss based on 

24 jurisdiction, and I'm talking about Sands China's, the 

25 lawyers', they state that Sands China was formed on July 15th, 
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1 2009. The terms sheet is in early August 2009. So it 

2 absolutely was in existence. I don't know if they just forgot 

3 that they put that in their brief or if they aren't familiar 

4 with the corporate formation history, but that's the state of 

5 facts on that. 

6 Ms. Glaser also said we acknowledge that the terms 

7 sheet -- or that the stock option agreement was never 

8 accepted. That is not what we say, Your Honor. We went 

9 through and presented an example with respect to his ability 

10 -- his potential inability to have accepted or performed 

11 because he was terminated before the expiration period lapsed. 

12 But we're not saying he didn't accept it. We're saying he 

13 did. And we'll get into discovery and we'll establish that. 

14 So, Your Honor, I don't want to rehash everything 

15 else that's in the briefs. I know you've read everything. 

16 But I'm happy to answer any other questions you have on it. 

17 THE COURT: I don't have any. 

18 Because this is a motion to dismiss, the Court 

19 cannot make the determination that is being requested of it 

20 today. This is an issue that, if you believe appropriate, 

21 should be renewed on a motion for summary judgment. At this 

22 point the allegations that have been made have to be taken by 

23 the Court as true. And while I will make a legal 

24 determination about the scope and interpretation of the 

25 contract provisions, I'm not going to do it at the motion to 
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1 dismiss stage. 

2 

3 

MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Thank you for including the foreign 

4 authorities. It's helpful, since there's no other way for me 

5 to access Hong Kong law. 

6 

7 might. 

8 

9 

MS. GLASER: Your Honor, I have two questions, if I 

THE COURT: Yep. 

MS. GLASER: One is I need to understand one thing, 

10 and if the Court would enlighten me. 

11 THE COURT: 

12 MS. GLASER: 

13 it's fine, too. One 

14 adjudication now 

15 THE COURT: 

Sure. 

And if the Court doesn't choose to, 

is may we make a motion for summary 

Yes. 

16 MS. GLASER: -- and avoid the discovery? Because it 

17 is a -- it's in our view senseless. 

18 THE COURT: File your motion for summary judgment. 

19 There's a different standard that applies on a motion for 

20 summary judgment. So file it, characterize it as a motion for 

21 summary judgment, they'll do what they're going to do, which 

22 may include some issues related to some other stuff, and then 

23 we'll talk about it. 

24 MS. GLASER: Second issue, if I might. Thank you. 

25 I appreciate it. That's -- I needed that guidance. 
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1 The second issue is we -- and I don't know if the 

2 Court wants to hear about this, but we have some not disputes, 

3 we're all working together --

4 THE COURT: How about before you go to those I hear 

5 the other case that's still waiting. You guys make sure all 

6 of you know what the issue is you want to talk to me about, 

7 and unless somebody objects, I'd be happy to talk to you about 

8 it. But I want to get those other folks out of here. 

9 MS. GLASER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

10 (Court recessed at 11:27 a.m., until 11:34 a.m.) 

11 THE COURT: Mr. Morris, you're the one who's 

12 preparing the order on the defamation motion. 

13 

14 

15 at. 

16 

17 

18 

MR. MORRIS: Yes, I will, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And send it over to everybody to look 

MR. MORRIS: Circulate it? Certainly I will. 

THE COURT: Please. 

MR. CAMPBELL: Your Honor, and I presume it's just 

19 basically going to reiterate what was in 

20 THE COURT: One would hope. 

21 MR. CAMPBELL: -- the statement that the Court made. 

22 THE COURT: I've found there's an absolute 

23 privilege, no factual issues related to the nature of the 

24 statement, motion granted, go up to the Supreme Court. 

25 MR. CAMPBELL: On the basis of the VESI case. 
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2 

3 issue. 

4 

• • 
THE COURT: Absolute privilege. 

MR. PEEK: You didn't need to get to the reply 

THE COURT: Correct. Nor did I need to deal with 

5 conditional privileges since I found it to be an absolute 

6 privilege. 

7 

8 

Okay. What do you want to talk to me about? 

MS. GLASER: Your Honor, we want to just alert you, 

9 and we've alerted the other side, and we 

10 general sort of understanding. There is 

we think we have a 

11 

12 

THE COURT: And Mr. Fleming is back. 

MS. GLASER: Good morning, good morning, good 

13 morning very early, Mr. Fleming. 

14 Two things. One, we will be filing a motion for 

15 summary adjudication, and I appreciate the Court's guidance. 

16 It's not a surprise. 

17 THE COURT: No problem. 

18 MS. GLASER: Two, with --

19 THE COURT: There's a $250 filing 

20 MS. GLASER: Oh. 

21 MR. PEEK: Is that all you get for 

22 Your Honor? 

THE COURT: I don't get anything. 

MS. GLASER: Not a problem. 

fee with that. 

reviewing it, 

23 

24 

25 Second, and this is what we were about to discuss 
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1 wit.h Your Honor, there's something called the Privacy Act in 

2 Macau, and the Privacy Act is a pretty laborious piece of 

3 legislation which requires something like the following. And 

4 we have explained it to the other side. They're going to get 

5 their own counsel, Macau counsel, because I don't want them to 

6 rely on us. And I'm sure they wouldn't anyway. 

7 This is what happens. Documents get -- must be 

8 reviewed in Macau. We're starting that process now. We have 

9 gone through the process and represent to the Court we have 

10 gathered electronic documents, as well as hard copy. 

11 THE COURT: Correct. 

12 MS. GLASER: They're in Macau. They are not allowed 

13 to leave Macau. We have to review them there, and then to the 

14 extent that the Privacy Act, which is read very broadly 

15 according to our Macau written opinion counsel, it's read very 

16 broadly, it then -- then you go to the office that supervises 

17 the Privacy Act, say, okay, with respect to these group of 

18 documents, not the whole universe, but these group of 

19 documents we want to take them out of Macau, produce them in 

20 this litigation, and we do that pursuant to a stipulation and 

21 hopefully court order that says, of course, these are only 

22 going to be used in connection with this litigation and for no 

23 other purpose. 

24 We then hope to and anticipate being able to 

25 convince the Macau court, not a problem, okay, go -- Macau 
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1 office that we -- indeed the government says, yes, you can do 

2 these in the Jacobs litigation. Mr. Campbell said to me, 

3 well, okay, fine, we'll get our own counsel, no problem, and 

4 can you give me a date by which you think you will be able to 

5 produce whatever you can produce. 

6 THE COURT: Is this related to the document 

7 production we issued talked about last time where you said 

8 there be a violation of Macau law? You didn't, you did. 

9 

10 

MS. GLASER: Yes, ma'am. 

THE COURT: And I said, well, then that would be the 

11 time to ask me about the stay. 

12 MS. GLASER: Okay. So 

13 THE COURT: Is that what you're trying to intimate 

14 to me, we 1 re getting closer to that time? 

15 MS. GLASER: We're getting closer to that time. 

16 THE COURT: Okay. Well, some day we'll actually get 

17 there; right? 

18 MS. GLASER: But I simply -- somebody -- there's a 

19 rumor out there in Las Vegas that if people don't raise issues 

20 early with you, you might get a little testy with the lawyers. 

21 

22 

THE COURT: I get frustrated. 

MS. GLASER: And I don't want to get -- I don't want 

23 anybody being testy with me. 

24 THE COURT: So are you entering into a stipulation 

25 and confidentiality order related to the Privacy Act in Macau? 
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1 MS. GLASER: They haven't agreed to that yet, Your 

2 Honor. 

3 MR. PEEK: Yeah, we did. 

4 THE COURT: It was just a question. 

5 MR. PEEK: It's --

6 THE COURT: There was a question mark at the end of 

7 my statement. 

8 MR. PEEK: And the reason for that is we'd be able 

9 to tell the Office of Data Privacy counsel that we're --

10 they're being used for this purpose so 

11 THE COURT: But I still need to hear Mr. Campbell's 

12 answer to my question. 

13 MR. CAMPBELL: Thank you, Your Honor. The answer to 

14 that is no. 

15 THE COURT: Okay. 

16 MR. CAMPBELL: Would you like me to elaborate? 

17 THE COURT: No. You're going to consult with 

18 somebody in Macau. 

MR. CAMPBELL: No. 19 

20 THE COURT: All right. You're not going to consult 

21 with somebody in Macau. They're going to do what they're 

22 going to do, they're going to produce documents with a 

23 privilege log which may include this unusual entry for us, 

24 which is Macau privacy law, and then we will deal with that 

25 some day. 
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